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          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Good morning,

          3  everyone. We are starting a little late today but we

          4  had various and sundry things to do. I am Councilman

          5  Stanley Michels and I want to welcome you to the

          6  City Council's Committee on Environmental

          7  Protection, and this is the second of two hearings

          8  we had involving the underground storage tank, the

          9  issue of the underground storage tanks. I am hoping

         10  we can get all of the information, and one of the

         11  other things I am hoping to do is do a report on

         12  this particular subject because it is very

         13  important, though it is something not too many

         14  people know about it, because if they knew about it,

         15  they would know how important it was, and we had the

         16  federal government, the EPA, Region 2 testify last

         17  week, as we had Commissioner Tormenta who also

         18  testified and various other people. Today we are

         19  very privileged to have Mary Ellen Kris of the

         20  Department of Conservation testify and put this

         21  thing in prospectus and find out what we are doing.

         22  It is really more or less, this hearing, an

         23  information gathering because it is such an

         24  important subject.

         25                 I am joined with my colleagues, to my
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          2  right is the Deputy Majority Leader, Deputy Speaker,

          3  Archie Spigner, who also is the Chair of the Housing

          4  and Buildings Committee, which I am privileged to

          5  serve on.

          6                 To my left is John Sabini, of Queens,

          7  a member of the Committee. Our newest member,

          8  Council Member Provenzano from the Bronx, and from

          9  Brooklyn we have Council Member Boyland.

         10                 So, I think we will get started. Oh,

         11  and Sheldon Leffer. I didn't even see you, hi,

         12  Shelly, and the former chair of this Committee and

         13  now the chair of the Public Safety Committee from

         14  Queens, Sheldon Leffler.

         15                 We will get started. We will have our

         16  first witness, Mary Ellen Kris, and whoever else she

         17  wants to have with her.

         18                 Good morning. Welcome. We are very

         19  pleased to have you here. I think this is your

         20  initial testimony as the Regional Director.

         21                 MS. KRIS: It is actually my second.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Oh, your second.

         23  Sorry, please forgive me.

         24                 MS. KRIS: But I am glad you don't

         25  remember the first.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do you have a

          3  prepared statement?

          4                 MS. KRIS: I do. I believe we

          5  distributed it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Oh, I see it.

          7  Thank you.

          8                 We are joined by a distinguished

          9  Councilwoman from lower Manhattan, Kathryn Freed,

         10  chair of the Contracts Committee of the City

         11  Council.

         12                 Welcome, Kathryn. We are very glad to

         13  have you here today.

         14                 Okay, is everybody set?

         15                 MS. KRIS: Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Would you

         17  identify yourself, as well as who is with you.

         18                 MS. KRIS: My name is Mary Ellen Kris,

         19  K-r-i-s. I am the Director of the Region 2 office of

         20  the New York State Department of Environmental

         21  Conservation. I have held that position since August

         22  of 1996. Region 2 of DEC covers New York City, the

         23  five boroughs.

         24                 Sitting next to me is Jim Dezolt, who

         25  is the Director of the Bureau of Spill Prevention
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          2  and Response, and in the Division of Environmental

          3  Remediation from the Central Office of DEC, a number

          4  of other people from the program are with me here

          5  today, including the manager and Director of the

          6  Spills Prevention Response Program in my own Region,

          7  Randy Austin.

          8                 Before I read my prepared text, I

          9  want to make a couple of preliminary remarks.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Sure. Go right

         11  ahead.

         12                 MS. KRIS: First, we think this is a

         13  very important subject matter and we applaud the

         14  Chairman and this Committee for holding the

         15  hearings.

         16                 I am sorry I wasn't able to be here

         17  the first day of the hearings, February 26th, the

         18  timing wasn't good and I didn't have an adequate

         19  opportunity, given other pressures to do the

         20  material justice.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That's fine. We

         22  understood that and it was absolutely acceptable.

         23                 MS. KRIS: Okay.

         24                 In the meantime, I received a letter

         25  from the Chair last week indicating some additional
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          2  information beyond the scope of the original notice.

          3  The testimony today covers a lot of what you

          4  requested in your March 20th letter. In additional,

          5  I have brought with me a copy of the entire Spills

          6  database for the State of New York on a CD-ROM that

          7  I want to leave with the Committee.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you very

          9  much. The Sergeant-At-Arms will give it to us.

         10                 MS. KRIS: What you will not hear is

         11  some of the statistics you asked for in the letter.

         12  We have to compile. It is not how we keep track of

         13  the data, and if you still need those at the

         14  conclusion of the testimony, if you will let me know

         15  we will do the compilation for you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We thank you for

         17  your cooperation.

         18                 MS. KRIS: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That's it? Now

         20  we will go into your statement. Thank you very much.

         21                 MS. KRIS: That's the preliminaries.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay.

         23                 MS. KRIS: I want to begin by noting

         24  that about half of the petroleum bulk storage

         25  facilities that are regulated by the State of New
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          2  York are located right here in New York City.

          3  Needless to say, a large and daunting task.

          4                 We have 22 people in my office and in

          5  a satellite spills office out in Queens Village, 22

          6  technical and clerical staff who manage the tank

          7  program, as well as respond to spills associated

          8  with tanks and any other cause of a spill in the

          9  City.

         10                 Our Petroleum Bulk Storage Program

         11  originated in 1983 with the adoption of Article 10

         12  -- Title 10 of Article 17 of the Environmental

         13  Conservation Law. And under that, the agency

         14  established regulations to implement the law, which

         15  are found in parts 612 through 614 of Title 6 of the

         16  Official Compilation of Codes, Rules and Regulations

         17  New York State. Our regulations were adopted in

         18  1985.

         19                 Those regulations continue to serve

         20  as the legal basis for our petroleum bulk storage

         21  program. We also have regulations that can be found

         22  in Parts 595 through 599 that regulate certain

         23  chemical bulk storage facilities.

         24                 And I guess those two programs

         25  combined cover a lot of the same territory as the
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          2  federal Tank Program.

          3                 The State Tank Program applies to all

          4  petroleum storage tanks at facilities with a

          5  cumulative storage capacity of over 1,100 gallons.

          6  The exceptions to that rule are, oil production

          7  facilities, tanks at major oil storage facilities,

          8  with volume over 400,000 gallons. Those are covered

          9  under a separate state law, and tanks that are

         10  regulated by the federal government and the federal

         11  Natural Gas Act.

         12                 The major facilities, those that have

         13  over 400,000 gallons capacity, are regulated under

         14  Article 12 of the state's Navigation Law, and we

         15  call that program our major oil storage facility

         16  program. And we have, among the 22 people they have

         17  in the region, they also take care of the major oil

         18  storage facility program.

         19                 With respect to the traditional

         20  petroleum storage tank program that we have that

         21  covers, as I say, facilities with collectively more

         22  than 1,100 gallons, those tanks are required to be

         23  registered with the DEC. The owners are required to

         24  pay a registration fee that is dedicated to

         25  financing the program, and the registration has to
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          2  be renewed every five years.

          3                 Now, within that program, the State

          4  program mandates a number of measures. There is

          5  overfill prevention and secondary containment

          6  requirements. We have specifications for fill ports,

          7  valves and gauges. Tank operators have maintained

          8  inventory records to use to detect leaks. We require

          9  periodic tank testing, tank tightness testing, the

         10  results of which have to be reported to DEC. We have

         11  criteria for the proper closure and removal of old,

         12  unused tanks, so that they don't continue to be a

         13  source or a potential source of soil and groundwater

         14  contamination. And we have standards for new and

         15  modified petroleum storage tanks and for new

         16  underground piping systems. And all of these

         17  measures act to prevent spills, leaks, or detect

         18  them in the event they do occur.

         19                 Now, one of the things I wanted to

         20  give you some context for is the comparison or the

         21  relationship between the federal program and the

         22  State program.

         23                 As this Committee well knows, the

         24  federal program, they had a regulation that became

         25  effective at the end of December of 1998 for upgrade
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          2  of tanks and I want to explain where New York State

          3  fits into that program and how our own program

          4  compliments the federal program.

          5                 As I have indicated already, the New

          6  York program predated the federal underground

          7  storage tank program by several years. Our statute

          8  was '83, and '85 regulations. Their regulations were

          9  '88 and became fully effective in '98.

         10                 So, we entered into this as a state

         11  with a mature and increasingly maturing program that

         12  we viewed as in some respects more protective of the

         13  environment than the federal program, and in other

         14  respects comparable. And as you well know, at this

         15  stage the State of New York does not have a fully

         16  delegated -- does not have a delegated program from

         17  EPA. We have what we would consider to be parallel

         18  companion programs.

         19                 Both the federal and State programs

         20  were designed to prevent petroleum leakage and EPA

         21  and DEC work cooperatively in many ways to maximize

         22  overall effectiveness and to leverage our available

         23  resources.

         24                 First I want to give you just a

         25  little bit more background on the State Program and
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          2  in some of the ways that we -- we view it as in some

          3  ways superior to the federal program or certainly

          4  equivalent.

          5                 Our regulations cover petroleum-based

          6  oil of any kind, subject to the capacity, the 1,100

          7  gallon threshold. We cover all petroleum-based oil

          8  of any kind which burns as a fuel to produce heat or

          9  is suitable as in a motor vehicle or for lubrication

         10  of an engine and basically fuel is burned for

         11  heating. And as a result of that we have about 5,900

         12  underground heating oil tanks in New York State that

         13  are subject to our regulations. The federal

         14  regulations don't cover heating oil.

         15                 Discharges of heating oil have a high

         16  potential for polluting groundwater and public water

         17  supply, so we consider the fact that we regulate

         18  those facilities if they are above our threshold

         19  quantity levels to be a pretty significant important

         20  part of our program.

         21                 In addition, the state regulations

         22  apply to above ground petroleum tanks, whereas the

         23  federal regulations apply to underground storage

         24  tanks, that is tanks that have ten percent or more

         25  of their volume beneath the surface of the ground.
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          2                 So, again, we consider that to be a

          3  very substantive difference that is helpful to the

          4  environment.

          5                 Current data shows that DEC regulates

          6  almost 19,500 above-ground storage tanks in New York

          7  City.

          8                 The State program applies to not only

          9  stationary tanks but associated pipelines, fixtures

         10  and other equipment that have the cumulative

         11  capacity of over 1,100 gallons.

         12                 Now, when we get to the technical

         13  specifications that are found in the federal ranks

         14  at 40 CFR Part 280, or in the State regs at Part

         15  614, they are roughly equivalent. There are

         16  distinctions, and I am sure the EPA has spoken to

         17  those, or if they haven't will. But I wanted to

         18  point out some of the things that we consider to be

         19  very comparable.

         20                 We consider our regulations to have

         21  comparable measures to the federal regulations for

         22  corrosion resistance of tanks, leak monitoring,

         23  corrosion resistance of piping systems and for spill

         24  and overfill protection.

         25                 EPA requirements for leak detection
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          2  are somewhat more rigorous than the states, however,

          3  because they call for two forms of detection while

          4  the State regulations mandate one form of detection.

          5                 Essentially, however, new and

          6  modified tanks that have been installed in

          7  compliance with the State regulations since December

          8  of 1986, we believe are well equipped to prevent

          9  leakage or are as well equipped to prevent leakage

         10  as tanks that have been installed since December of

         11  '98 in compliance with the federal requirements.

         12                 There are also some differences I

         13  think in the way in which we handle secondary

         14  containment. It is my understanding that the federal

         15  regs do not have provisions for secondary

         16  containment of spills from underground storage

         17  tanks, whereas our State code does. And also

         18  requires secondary containment for above-ground

         19  tanks which we think is a very protective measure to

         20  prevent significant risk to the environment.

         21                 State regulations also include a

         22  range of miscellaneous measures to enhance leak

         23  prevention from older tanks, as well as those that

         24  have been upgraded.

         25                 For example, Part 613 of our
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          2  regulations establishes requirements for the proper

          3  closure or removal of out-of-service tanks so that

          4  they are eliminated as a potential source of

          5  petroleum discharges.

          6                 Part 613 also mandates the tanks be

          7  tested for tightness on a specified schedule.

          8  Inventory records must be maintained and unexplained

          9  losses of petroleum must be reported to DEC.

         10                 Above-ground tanks must be

         11  periodically inspected and records must be kept as

         12  part of good maintenance and management.

         13                 Now, the DEC has, in addition through

         14  its own program supports the federal program and has

         15  provided quite a bit of support to the December 1998

         16  retrofit deadline that the federal government had

         17  for their upgrade requirements.

         18                 For example, DEC and EPA held a

         19  series of public workshops across the state to alert

         20  the regulated community to the impending federal

         21  deadline, and to provide information necessary to

         22  educate the public about their compliance options.

         23                 Approximately 2,000 interested party

         24  attended these workshops. In New York City we

         25  conducted additional workshops that included the New
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          2  York City Fire Department, which as you know has a

          3  regulatory program of their own and may even have

          4  some legislation pending before this Committee.

          5                 In 1997, DEC mailed almost 13,000

          6  letters to petroleum tank owners, advising them of

          7  their obligations to meet the federal requirements.

          8                 We used our DEC database, a copy of

          9  which I just gave to the Committee, to identify

         10  affected tank owners and to specify the shortcomings

         11  of their facilities.

         12                 DEC publishes a newsletter called the

         13  tank bulletin, which is mailed free to all

         14  registered tank owners and anyone else who requests

         15  a copy. Our current circulation of the tank bulletin

         16  is over 20,000. Recent issues of the tank bulletin

         17  have emphasized the federal deadline and what is

         18  needed for tank owners to comply.

         19                 Since 1989, DEC and EPA have had an

         20  operating agreement that defines our respective

         21  roles in implementing the petroleum bulk storage

         22  program.

         23                 EPA has a copy of the database that

         24  we have given to this Committee and uses it in their

         25  enforcement efforts.
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          2                 In addition, as part of our

          3  understanding with the EPA, we have agreed to notify

          4  EPA of any federal violations that are detected when

          5  we conduct our state inspections, and we do that.

          6                 We routinely inform them of

          7  violations. We, in addition, respond to special

          8  requests for information, our files are theirs

          9  essentially. And in this respect we function not

         10  only as the eyes and ears of the DEC, but in many

         11  respects as the eyes and ears in which to identify

         12  federal violations and try to support their program

         13  which as you well know has limited staffing, given

         14  the size of their region. We see ourselves as

         15  providing much of the leg work for them, and

         16  essentially we leverage each other's resources. We

         17  both have very large jobs to do and we do the best

         18  we can to support and enhance each other's programs.

         19                 And finally, in appropriate

         20  instances, particularly where we have major

         21  facilities that are significant violators that

         22  perhaps have been less than compliant and

         23  cooperative with DEC, we refer cases to EPA for

         24  federal enforcement where we feel that they really

         25  have a better possibility of getting a good result
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          2  than we might have under our laws and in our courts.

          3                 Now, we have an awful lot of activity

          4  going on in the region in respect to spills and

          5  tanks. I wanted to give you a highlight of some of

          6  the things that we consider to be accomplishments.

          7                 One of the ways in which we have

          8  tried to triage our resources is by entering consent

          9  orders with the big facilities, the multiple

         10  facility operators in the City. Many of those, as

         11  you will see, date back to the early nineties, '92,

         12  '94, under which as a general proposition I think

         13  it is generally true that as a result of those

         14  orders, I think those facilities have all managed to

         15  achieve compliance with upgrade requirements under

         16  state and federal law.

         17                 And now the heart and soul of what we

         18  have been doing for a long time now is focusing on

         19  the residual contamination associated with the

         20  leakage that occurred from old tanks. So, let me

         21  just give you a flavor for that.

         22                 With the City of New York, as I think

         23  you know, DEC entered a consent order in April of

         24  '94 that required the City to correct existing

         25  violations at City-owned vehicle refueling stations.
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          2  That consent order now is, essentially the agency

          3  responsible for that is the DEC, City DEC. Under

          4  that consent order it covered 500 locations and

          5  approximately 1,200 underground storage tanks.

          6                 They have completed the tank testing

          7  and upgrade portion of the program associated with

          8  those particular facilities and are continuing to

          9  work with us on the investigation remediation of

         10  soil and groundwater contamination.

         11                 I know that the Committee is aware

         12  that the City made a self disclosure to EPA

         13  concerning, I think it is 614 tanks at 495 locations

         14  or something like that, where they did not achieve

         15  compliance with federal upgrade requirements. Those

         16  are, I understand, waste oil tanks and generator

         17  tanks, and some of those, if not all of those, I am

         18  not sure if any of those are covered by our consent

         19  order, there may be some overlap or they may be

         20  entirely outside of that.

         21                 We have discussed this matter with

         22  EPA and it is my understanding that they are going

         23  to take lead on pursuing whatever is needed with

         24  respect to those facilities that the City made the

         25  self disclosure on. Obviously if they need
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          2  assistance from us they will ask for it and we will

          3  supply it.

          4                 We have a lot of work left to do

          5  under the consent order to address remediation

          6  issues associated with a number of the facilities

          7  that had these old tanks.

          8                 New York City Transit Authority is

          9  another major facility that has a consent order with

         10  us. In January of '92, the Transit Authority signed

         11  a consent order that relates to 45 New York City

         12  Transit managed facilities covering 350 or more

         13  underground storage tanks.

         14                 Again, my understanding is that at

         15  every one of those sites they have complied with the

         16  upgrade, state and federal upgrade requirements with

         17  respect to tank replacement. However, at many of

         18  them they had spills in the past, some of them very,

         19  very significant, and we are working with them

         20  regulating them to get the remediation that needs to

         21  be done, done as quickly as possible.

         22                 New York City Housing Authority, on

         23  December 29th of 1992, they signed a consent order

         24  with DEC that has since been extended multiple

         25  times. That consent order addressed 151 New York
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          2  City Housing Authority projects with a total of 238

          3  tanks and 125 spill violations.

          4                 GATX, which as you probably know is

          5  closing, they entered a consent order with DEC in

          6  July of '92 and again March 31 of '98. That facility

          7  consists of 75 above-ground tanks covering 414 acres

          8  and storing 218 million gallons of petroleum. That

          9  is the largest storage facility of its type in the

         10  State of New York.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What does GATX

         12  stand for?

         13                 MS. KRIS: It's an oil storage

         14  company. They have facilities --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: A private

         16  corporation?

         17                 MS. KRIS: It's private, yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Fine, thank you.

         19                 MS. KRIS: But it's a significant

         20  source of --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well, you

         22  certainly indicated that.

         23                 MS. KRIS: Yes. But, no, they are not

         24  governmental.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They are going
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          2  out of business you said?

          3                 MS. KRIS: They are closing, yes. And

          4  they are still under a consent order with us to

          5  handle remediation issues and we are continuing to

          6  manage those issues.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They are selling

          8  themselves off, or just closing down a facility?

          9                 MR. AUSTIN: They are closing down the

         10  facility.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Identify

         12  yourself, please.

         13                 MR. AUSTIN: They are closing the

         14  facility.

         15                 MS. KRIS: They are closing the

         16  facility.  So that means they have to go through a

         17  whole formal closure process.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Certainly, okay.

         19                 SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: He didn't

         20  identify himself.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Excuse me, he

         22  did identify himself. Please, please.

         23                 MS. KRIS: His name is Randy Austin,

         24  and he is in charge of the Spills Program on my

         25  staff in Region 2 at DEC.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Please, if you

          3  have something to say, you can testify. But right

          4  now it is out of order.

          5                 MS. KRIS: We mention it only because

          6  of its size.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I just had never

          8  heard of it, that is why I was asking.

          9                 MS. KRIS: Okay.

         10                 Port Authority, another governmental

         11  facility, we signed a consent order with the Port

         12  Authority in February of '94, and it relates to more

         13  than two dozen Port Authority facilities out at JFK,

         14  and given, which is a very significant, the

         15  facilities it covers are significant in and of

         16  themselves, but in addition it has allowed this

         17  Department and enhanced our ability to regulate

         18  other airport tenants that also have the potential

         19  for petroleum spillage and other spillage issues.

         20                 JFK's petroleum storage is greater

         21  than 32 million gallons, with approximately 3

         22  million gallons of fuel being dispensed daily,

         23  storage and spillage issues therefore of paramount

         24  importance.

         25                 We have more than four dozen ongoing
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          2  subsurface remediation and groundwater monitoring

          3  projects under that consent order. Among two of the

          4  larger remediation projects associated with the JFK,

          5  Port Authority consent order, are two jet fuel

          6  plumes that underlie the airport's petroleum bulk

          7  storage farms, and the reconstruction of the airport

          8  central terminal area.

          9                 And the last one I wanted to mention

         10  is Consolidated Edison, a private company. We

         11  entered a consent order with them in 1994 aimed at

         12  correcting a variety of problems, but largely

         13  addressed oil handling practices and systems that

         14  had resulted in a number of releases to the

         15  environment.

         16                 Con Ed was required to pay a penalty

         17  of $9 million and establish a $5 million, in

         18  addition to that a $5 million environmental trust

         19  fund, which is called the New York City

         20  Environmental Fund, to support various environmental

         21  projects.

         22                 And by the way, that fund is

         23  administered by the Hudson River Foundation as

         24  trustee for DEC, and we have given out about a

         25  million dollars in grants. We have another $4
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          2  million plus to go I think because we have gotten

          3  interest.

          4                 In addition, we entered another

          5  consent order, a modified consent order with Con Ed

          6  last year, I think, in October of '97, as a result

          7  of additional oil spills that had occurred after the

          8  '94 consent order.

          9                 In the '97 consent order received

         10  another $385,000 in penalties and other kinds of

         11  projects from Con Ed.

         12                 DEC is also actively involved with

         13  the major gasoline retailers, Amoco, Mobil, Exxon,

         14  Sunoco and Getty, to bring their approximately 1,300

         15  facilities into compliance with law.

         16                 Of these, DEC is currently

         17  supervising over 100 active groundwater remediation

         18  sites.

         19                 Now, I wanted to also point out some

         20  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Let me just

         22  interrupt you for one second.

         23                 Are you also somewhat involved in the

         24  spill at Newtown Creek?

         25                 MS. KRIS: Yes. My agency has -- you
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          2  mean underneath Greenpoint?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes.

          4                 MS. KRIS: Yes.

          5                 Would you like to know something

          6  about that?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes.

          8                 MS. KRIS: The answer is yes. Should I

          9  speak about that now?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes, if you

         11  would like to.

         12                 MS. KRIS: Sure.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Tell us about

         14  the Newtown Creek spill. It is considered to be one

         15  of the biggest spills in the history of spills.

         16                 MS. KRIS: Very, very large. I have

         17  heard --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We have had some

         19  testimony on it in the past to determine what the

         20  cause of it is.

         21                 MS. KRIS: That's right. I think about

         22  a year and a half ago Randy Austin and some other

         23  folks from my office testified on the hearing you

         24  held on that subject, and they probably testified on

         25  that previously.
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          2                 It dates back to the days when

          3  Greenpoint was really home to all of the major oil

          4  companies, Standard Oil and some of the others.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mobil is the one

          6  that comes to mind. Mobil Oil.

          7                 MS. KRIS: Well, Mobil is a successor

          8  to Standard and Mobil is now ultimately the party

          9  that is doing the majority of the clean-up out there

         10  by agreement with all the other parties and under

         11  consent order with DEC.

         12                 Its historical leakage is dating back

         13  to long ago and far away. My understanding is the

         14  spill first rose to people's attention in '79 when

         15  the Coast Guard became involved, presumably as a

         16  result of oil leaking out onto the Newtown Creek.

         17  The Coast Guard has the lead on spills affecting the

         18  waterways, the Coast Guard had the lead for some

         19  time. DEC became involved, I want to say in the

         20  early eighties. DEC entered consent orders with a

         21  number of oil companies, including Mobil, and that

         22  was the infancy of our spill program here in the

         23  region.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That's some

         25  introduction.
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          2                 MS. KRIS: Yes, big time. And the --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I understand it

          4  ranks there with the Valdez.

          5                 MS. KRIS: I have heard anecdotally, I

          6  don't know if this is true, I have hard anecdotally

          7  it described as the second largest plume after

          8  Valdez.

          9                 So, it's very large and no one knows

         10  exactly how many gallons. At the last public meeting

         11  we held on this a few weeks ago, the consultant for

         12  Mobil indicated that the estimates were that it was

         13  somewhere in the vicinity of maybe 12 million

         14  gallons overall. Thus far, 6.4 million gallons have

         15  been recovered by Mobil and Amoco and it continues.

         16                 There were, I think at this point

         17  state-of-the-art technology is certainly in place. I

         18  think there were delays in getting there. But the

         19  system is working optimally I am told. There are

         20  additional measures that are being put in place

         21  besides that, and as you may well know the City of

         22  New York condemns a good portion of the Mobil

         23  property to do the upgrades on the Newtown Sewage

         24  Treatment Plants. There is going to be major

         25  construction activity on that site, which we hope is

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            29

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  going -- expect will result in source removal, a lot

          3  of the --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I don't know if

          5  we still determine what the source is.

          6                 MS. KRIS: It is from all of the oil

          7  companies that work -- I mean, these were big, big

          8  tank farms that leaked. It is not any one source.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay.

         10                 MS. KRIS: And there is multiple

         11  plumes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You showed the

         13  proper sensitivity on that.

         14                 MS. KRIS: Okay.

         15                 If I can just refer to a couple of

         16  other initiatives we have that relate to our

         17  petroleum bulk storage program?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes, please.

         19                 MS. KRIS: We focus on prevention, not

         20  just trying to do clean-up after the releases occur,

         21  and for example --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Which, by the

         23  way, is the whole thrust of this hearing.

         24                 MS. KRIS: Right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And thrust of
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          2  both the state and the federal law.

          3                 MS. KRIS: Right.

          4                 So, one of the things that we have

          5  done is in 1998 we initiated an enforcement program

          6  in our PDS program, our Petroleum Bulk Storage

          7  program, focusing on the registration, people who

          8  fail to register their tanks or have other tank

          9  violations, tank testing violations.

         10                 In '98 we sent out in this region

         11  5,750 notification letters to facilities that our

         12  database indicated either hadn't done testing or

         13  weren't registered under our state regulations.

         14                 After we received back the responses,

         15  we sent out notices of violation, 4,127 notices of

         16  violation. Now we are in the process of sending out

         17  consent orders to those who didn't respond and that

         18  will continue throughout 1999.

         19                 The result of this has brought in a

         20  number of overdue registration renewals, obviously

         21  it is critically important, given the numbers of

         22  facilities we are talking about, if you are not in

         23  the system at all you are not on anybody's screen.

         24  So, the purpose of this initiative is to flush out

         25  those who you are not keeping good track of. It has
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          2  resulted in overdue registration renewals coming in,

          3  overdue tank test reports and lots of inquiries from

          4  the public.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But how do you

          6  know? If they didn't have a sort of permit, where

          7  did you get all of these names from? And how do you

          8  prevent them from falling through the cracks?

          9                 MS. KRIS: It is a combination of

         10  efforts. For those who weren't in the system at all,

         11  I believe we got referrals from the City. We also

         12  have other tools at our disposal, we have a GIS

         13  system in the region, we get complaints from the

         14  public, our law enforcement officers identify

         15  things. So, it is a combination of leads that we

         16  have and whatever is in the other database.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It is an ongoing

         18  program, I would guess.

         19                 MR. KRIS: That's right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS:  We are letting

         21  people know that we are trying to find them.

         22                 MS. KRIS: That's right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am hearing

         24  stories about leaks that we never heard about and we

         25  will certainly refer them over to you.
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          2                 MS. KRIS: That would be very helpful.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: If nothing else

          4  comes out of this hearing and the other hearings, it

          5  is that people should be aware of where there are

          6  leaks and inform you and don't be afraid that you

          7  may not know it --

          8                 MS. KRIS: That's right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: -- But we are

         10  not afraid and we want to check them out.

         11                 MS. KRIS: Identifying a universe of

         12  the problems is just the first step in the process.

         13  Given the numbers of facilities in the City, that's

         14  -- you know, things could be lost.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: People should

         16  know if they go to their basement of their building

         17  or their home and they find strange chemicals, that

         18  they should call you up and let you know about it.

         19  It may be leaking from some other source.

         20                 MS. KRIS: We do have a hot line

         21  number. We have a series of numbers that can be

         22  called, but anything associated with a potential

         23  leak should be called into our hot line number.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What is the hot

         25  line number? Because this is being televised.
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          2                 MS. KRIS: 1-800-457-7362 is DEC's

          3  spills hot line.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Why don't you

          5  repeat the number again.

          6                 MS. KRIS: 1-800-457-7362.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And that is a

          8  number that if anybody suspects or has any suspicion

          9  that they have some sort of a leakage into their

         10  property or wherever they know about it, will call

         11  you and let you know so you can check it out?

         12                 MS. KRIS: That's right.

         13                 In fact, a very, very large

         14  percentage of our work results from calls made into

         15  that number. Besides all of the regulations that we

         16  have that we have to monitoring people, are they

         17  making the right filings, we have 24-hour seven day

         18  a week response to any call that comes into the hot

         19  line. That number goes into Albany, it is for the

         20  State of New York. People on the receiving end then

         21  route it to whoever is on duty in the particular

         22  region. And so we spend a lot of time among our

         23  staff going out and responding to those calls.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And that number

         25  can be used not only for spillage but any suspicion
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          2  of ultra hazardous materials or things like that.

          3                 MS. KRIS: Yes, that's right. It's not

          4  limited to petroleum.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Right.

          6                 MS. KRIS: Correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do you know how

          8  many calls you get a year, one of my members just

          9  asked me? Gifford Miller from Manhattan, has joined

         10  us.

         11                 MS. KRIS: Between 16,000 and 17,000

         12  calls go into the hot line a year.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thousand?

         14                 MS. KRIS: Right.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay.

         16                 MS. KRIS: And we on a yearly basis in

         17  my region and New York City, we get at least 2,000,

         18  I think we have 2,000 so far this year, I think we

         19  had 4,700 last year. It is really a staggering

         20  number.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And you have the

         22  capabilities of responding to them?

         23                 MS. KRIS: We are always triaging the

         24  resources. We are always doing the best that we can.

         25                 One of the things that we have done
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          2  in the region that has been very helpful under these

          3  consent orders, the big, big consent orders, we

          4  typically require the major facilities to fund at

          5  least one DEC position, so that in our spills

          6  program in the region, of the 22 people, maybe a

          7  third or more of them are under specific consent

          8  orders, so as to make sure that we have got

          9  dedicated manpower to follow up with the clients on

         10  those facilities.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Your inspectoral

         12  staff in the metropolitan region is 22?

         13                 MS. KRIS: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What is it

         15  statewide?

         16                 MS. KRIS: One-sixty.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay. Sorry to

         18  interrupt your testimony.

         19                 MS. KRIS: Oh, that's fine.

         20                 In the last two years, we had another

         21  PBS enforcement and inspection initiative that

         22  related to gas stations.

         23                 The first phase of that focused on

         24  high-risk -- and it is ongoing -- the first phase of

         25  that program focused on high-risk facilities, that
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          2  being gas stations or other facilities, with

          3  gasoline tanks in close proximity to the subway

          4  system.

          5                 It probably goes without saying that

          6  if gasoline leaks into the subway system it presents

          7  a danger to the public health and safety.

          8                 Over 200 sites were identified using

          9  our geographic information system of gas stations

         10  that were in proximity to the subway system. These

         11  sites were repeatedly inspected and where necessary,

         12  enforcement actions were brought, until these

         13  particular gas stations achieved compliance with our

         14  State Petroleum Bulk Storage regulations.

         15                 After achieving compliance with

         16  those, we moved on to -- now the focus of our PBS

         17  inspections has shifted to facilities with new tanks

         18  that were required to comply with 614 of our

         19  regulations which applies to standards for new bulk

         20  storage facility construction.

         21                 Another thing that is worth

         22  highlighting is, the spills fund, you know, we also,

         23  as I indicated, respond to spills, that is not just

         24  -- and that consists of two types of response: One

         25  is, emergency response to something that is ongoing,
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          2  that is a problem. And then of course there is the

          3  longer term investigation and remediation which can

          4  go on for years.

          5                 Both of those activities, those

          6  activities are funded through basically two sources,

          7  the State Spill Fund and private party dollars that

          8  go for an awful lot of it.

          9                 First, with respect to the State

         10  Spill Fund. In 1978 the State of New York

         11  established a clean-up fund by assessing a per

         12  barrel fee on petroleum ship in bulk in New York

         13  State.

         14                 These fees are deposited into the

         15  dedicated spill fund, known as the New York State

         16  Environmental Protection and Spill Compensation

         17  Fund, which is used for DEC spill response staff and

         18  contractors that DEC hires to clean up petroleum

         19  spills that threaten the surface and groundwaters of

         20  the State.

         21                 In New York City, DEC has initiated

         22  155 state-funded groundwater remediation projects to

         23  protect public health in the environment from the

         24  hazards associated with petroleum.

         25                 Of those 155 state funded clean-ups,
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          2  DEC has completed 110 and 45 projects are ongoing

          3  and are being monitored by experience remediation

          4  staff from this Department.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Does that

          6  include Newtown Creek?

          7                 MS. KRIS: That is private party

          8  funded. That is being paid for by Mobil and Amoco

          9  and some other companies.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, thanks.

         11                 MS. KRIS: And that leads into my next

         12  point which is beyond the state fund, we have

         13  private party clean-ups, that we have been working

         14  on and we have thousands of those in my region, and

         15  our efforts -- and that really constitutes a huge

         16  part of our workload, when we find out about

         17  releases whether it is from a tip or it is by

         18  figuring out that someone is in violation with the

         19  Petroleum Bulk Storage requirements, that leads to

         20  significant amount of ongoing work to investigate

         21  and make sure that the private party conducts

         22  appropriate remediation.

         23                 So that our efforts collectively in

         24  this regard involve removing petroleum contamination

         25  so residents can safely occupy their homes,
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          2  intercepting gasoline leaks that have closed down

          3  subway lines, capturing spills that have entered and

          4  compromised electrical conduits and sewer lines, and

          5  in a recent case that I am sure will be of interest

          6  to Councilman Spigner, we are involved with recovery

          7  of gasoline contamination that has entered a well

          8  called Well 10 out in Jamaica, I believe, that is in

          9  proximity to the water supply in Southeast Queens.

         10                 So, this is in summary what I came

         11  prepared today to discuss and I hope that this

         12  information, as well as the database we have

         13  provided to you, and the other information,

         14  background information we supplied prior to the

         15  February 26th hearing, I hope gives some context to

         16  what our overall program does, how it ties in with

         17  the federal program, how we compliment each other.

         18                 EPA's regulations, as you know, are

         19  legally binding in New York State, as they are

         20  everywhere else, and even though New York State has

         21  not accepted delegation of the federal program, we

         22  do have -- we enjoy a very close working

         23  relationship and we do the best we can to minimize

         24  overlapping and conflicting requirements on the

         25  regulated community, as well as to enhance, as I
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          2  say, our own limited resources and to do what we can

          3  to point out to EPA violations we learn of, to

          4  conduct as many investigations and inspections as we

          5  can, respond to spills, distribute information to

          6  the public at EPA and monitor clean-ups.

          7                 Violations of federal requirements

          8  are routinely shared with EPA, but ultimately at

          9  this juncture it is their responsibility to pursue

         10  enforcement of federal violations.

         11                 I should probably note that

         12  delegation of federal programs obviously involve

         13  cost and that thus far anyway delegation of the

         14  federal tank program in New York State would not

         15  bring, as far as I know, any additional resources to

         16  take on a substantial amount of additional work. And

         17  for that reason we see it as an unfunded federal

         18  mandate that would create an enormous burden on a

         19  program that is already working very hard to meet

         20  its various mandates.

         21                 But I want to leave you with the

         22  thought that DEC has long enjoyed a productive and

         23  symbiotic relationship with EPA in the petroleum

         24  bulk storage area and we are committed to continue

         25  to exercise best efforts to provide assistance and
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          2  support and work collaboratively with EPA on a going

          3  forward basis.

          4                 I thank you very much for this

          5  opportunity, Chairman Michels. I appreciate very

          6  much the detail in which you went into, and we will

          7  continue once you give us the database, and we look

          8  forward to working with you on it.

          9                 I have some questions to ask. From a

         10  situation of the relationship between the feds and

         11  the state, and I must point out what you know,

         12  obviously, is that your coverage is for tanks of

         13  1,100 capacity, and I am talking generally speaking

         14  underground tanks, but you also cover ones that are

         15  not underground as well.

         16                 MS. KRIS: Correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But the federal

         18  law only covers underground tanks, and those which

         19  are ten percent or more underground. And they are

         20  110 gallons, which is substantially less than your

         21  jurisdiction, and even though the law is different,

         22  they do not preempt state law.

         23                 MS. KRIS: That's correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The issue of

         25  preemption here doesn't exist.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            42

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 MS. KRIS: No.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: In other words,

          4  the laws that you enforce are the state laws and the

          5  laws they enforce are the federal laws and they are

          6  both enforceable and the person owning a tank must

          7  comply with both laws --

          8                 MS. KRIS: Correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: As well as any

         10  city rules and regulations.

         11                 MS. KRIS: Correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Is that correct?

         13                 MS. KRIS: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So that we now

         15  have a universe of tanks out there under 1,100

         16  gallons, which are left to the feds to enforce,

         17  namely with the testimony that we have gotten, that

         18  the entire EPA region, which is region 2, has only

         19  eight enforcers, and that includes New Jersey, the

         20  Virgin Islands, the American Virgin Islands, Puerto

         21  Rico, and so that is really spreading it very think.

         22  You have many more. You have 22 alone in the New

         23  York region, but they don't have the jurisdiction to

         24  enforce the federal regs; is that correct?

         25                 MS. KRIS: They have jurisdiction to
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          2  enforce the federal regs, yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They have the

          4  jurisdiction?

          5                 MS. KRIS: Certainly. And they do.

          6  They do enforce their own regs.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am talking

          8  about the 22 state regulators.

          9                 MS. KRIS: No, we don't enforce the

         10  federal, but what we do do is notify the federal

         11  government of any violations, the federal violations

         12  we are aware of, and work with them in whatever

         13  capacity they request.

         14                 I grant you that eight people for an

         15  entire tank program to cover the jurisdiction of EPA

         16  Region 2 is quite small.

         17                 On the other hand, the federal

         18  program has funding behind it, and if the federal

         19  government chooses not to spend it on putting the

         20  resources in New York City, I mean that is just a

         21  reality.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes, I

         23  understand. I am just trying to establish the facts

         24  as they exist without getting into arguments either

         25  way, and I am sure there are arguments either way.
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          2                 MS. KRIS: Right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So the fact of

          4  the matter is there is -- and we have no idea, do we

          5  have any idea how many tanks are not within the

          6  1,100 jurisdiction and would be in the federal

          7  jurisdiction in our region or in the state?

          8                 If you don't have the information,

          9  you can get it to me later.

         10                 MS. KRIS: Not offhand. Our chemical

         11  bulk storage regulations do regulate smaller tanks

         12  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: 135 gallons

         14  capacity.

         15                 MS. KRIS: Right. And I am told that

         16   --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: 135 gallons

         18  capacity.

         19                 MS. KRIS: The smaller level tanks, we

         20  would cover under our chemical bulk --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I understand

         22  that is the 135 gallons, the chemical; is that

         23  correct?

         24                 MS. KRIS: It is any size below

         25  ground, and it is 185 above ground, chemical.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Oh, I see.

          3                 MS. KRIS: And I am told that when EPA

          4  is, it is true, EPA regulates down to 110, but

          5  remember, they exclude heating oil, which mostly,

          6  that size tanks has got to mostly be heating, and we

          7  don't get too many fuel oil tanks at that level, so

          8  we tend to pick up at the state level, the majority

          9  of fuel oil tanks.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am just trying

         11  to get the idea of what we are talking about.

         12                 You are familiar with the law

         13  probably as well as anybody, the federal law, are

         14  there any other instances where the federal law may

         15  appear more stringent than the state law?

         16                 MS. KRIS: There aren't -- and it may

         17  be that the facilities that are regulated by both of

         18  us could speak to this better than I, but my

         19  understanding is that it has to do with things such

         20  as, I believe we require, the State requires, tank

         21  testing at a different interval than the federal

         22  government does, the federal government may require

         23  it more often.

         24                 And we have very similar requirements

         25  for the type of tank, but I think the federal
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          2  requirements with respect to certain things

          3  concerning the port valves may be a little bit

          4  different.

          5                 So, you are correct that there are

          6  some variations. I think that on the whole we are

          7  not talking programs that are so different that the

          8  regulated community has to choose between, you know,

          9  two masters.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The community

         11  has to comply with both laws.

         12                 MS. KRIS: They have to comply with

         13  both, and I think everyone would agree that in the

         14  best of all possible worlds, you always have only

         15  one set of regulations.

         16                 But on the other hand, I think that

         17  it is generally true that we are not talking vastly

         18  different requirements that pose a real problem for

         19  the regulated community.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Now, Obviously

         21  the federal government would like you to pass the

         22  statement, I am not talking about you, obviously,

         23  you are a regulated agency, you are not a

         24  legislative body or a political body, would like you

         25  to pass enabling legislation so that you would have
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          2  the ability to enforce the state law, and I

          3  understand there are only a few states that have not

          4  done this and New York is one of them. Is there any

          5  move to do that? Is there any inclination to do

          6  that? Because I understand there was an attempt to

          7  do it in the past and it has been going on a long

          8  time. I mean, the state law is over ten years old,

          9  the federal law is over ten years old looking for

         10  compliance. What is going on, as far as you can tell

         11  us, with respect to getting the state to comply with

         12  the federal law?

         13                 MS. KRIS: Well, as you indicated,

         14  there are at least two prior efforts to change the

         15  state legislation to make it consistent with the

         16  federal, and I am not fully familiar with why those

         17  didn't pass. I don't believe there has been any push

         18  in that regard in the last several years. I think

         19  that, and I don't know where that will ultimately go

         20  now, I do believe, however, that the existence of

         21  these hearings and additional pressure from EPA

         22  certainly are getting this topic on everyone's

         23  screen.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do you believe

         25  it is desirable? It would be desirable to have the
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          2  federal, state pass the enabling legislation? Would

          3  that give you additional help in enforcing the laws

          4  that you want to enforce?

          5                 MS. KRIS: I don't think that changing

          6  the New York Statute will do anything to enhance the

          7  delivery of services in my region, or for that

          8  matter at DEC and the tank program.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It certainly

         10  would give you some jurisdiction over these tanks

         11  which are under 1,100 which are not underground,

         12  other than heating oil -- are underground other than

         13  heating oil.

         14                 MS. KRIS: It may bring some

         15  additional --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Because what

         17  happens is, when you say you are aware of them, you

         18  give this information to the EPA, and then it

         19  depends upon them to enforce them. But you know,

         20  things happen, fall between the cracks, and

         21  sometimes they don't get the information, or since

         22  they didn't discover it, wouldn't it be helpful if

         23  you can enforce it and they can enforce it as well?

         24  And also let me add, and something that has to be

         25  followed through, and that is that the hearing a
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          2  couple of weeks ago, I forget the date, the 26th of

          3  February, there was some indication that there was

          4  some funds available from the federal government to

          5  the State to help in the enforcement.

          6                 MS. KRIS: Not that we have been told

          7  of, but that is wonderful news.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: There was

          9  testimony to that effect, but I think you ought to

         10  follow up on it, and that might sweeten the pot a

         11  little bit.

         12                 MS. KRIS: Since your first hearing

         13  date, we have had additional discussions with EPA.

         14  They have a new head of enforcement, who is also, as

         15  am I, coming up to speed on some of this. I expect

         16  that we will have an awful lot of additional

         17  conversations about this subject, to talk about ways

         18  in which we have a common goal. We have slightly

         19  different requirements, and whether there is a state

         20  delegation or not, we have a joint interest in doing

         21  the very best we can do in the City and we are going

         22  to do that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And I have to

         24  acknowledge that this is not the only thing that the

         25  agency does.
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          2                 MS. KRIS: Unfortunately that is true.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Just let me ask

          4  you and then I am going to turn it over to some of

          5  my members for questions and then I will come back

          6  to you.

          7                 You listed a whole bunch of consent

          8  orders that you have entered into, those are consent

          9  orders which previously were -- which you could say

         10  violations of the state law --

         11                 MS. KRIS: Always.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And which was

         13  entered into before an administrative judge of your

         14  agency, in my understanding.

         15                 MS. KRIS: They are usually signed,

         16  they are signed by the regional director, they don't

         17  go to an administrative law judge unless the party

         18  contests.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay.

         20                 Now, to your knowledge, are all of

         21  the deadlines being met? One particular item you

         22  have mentioned you have extended numerous times is

         23  the deadline, but to your knowledge, are these

         24  consent orders being complied with, the deadlines

         25  being met? I am talking about with the City of New
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          2  York, New York City Housing Authority, GATX, and

          3  various other consent orders you have entered into?

          4                 MS. KRIS: As I indicated, I believe

          5  that they have all satisfied their compliance

          6  obligations.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The Port

          8  Authority was another one and Con Edison was another

          9  one?

         10                 MS. KRIS: Right. And I believe they

         11  have all satisfied their compliance obligations when

         12  it comes to upgrading tanks.

         13                 They are in varying degrees of

         14  compliance I would say, with respect to the

         15  investigation and remediation projects that are

         16  underway.

         17                 I would have to say that in my

         18  relatively short tenure at DEC, I am surprised to

         19  learn that in many -- we generate a lot of

         20  compliance programs and consent orders and getting

         21  timely compliance is often a struggle across the

         22  Board.

         23                 So, I would think it would be a safe

         24  guess that you could find non-compliance under many

         25  of these orders. But one thing that I have learned
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          2  in getting ready for this hearing, one of the things

          3  that -- there are two common problems that I think

          4  slow down what ideally would be a much quicker

          5  process of investigating and remediating sites:

          6                 One is, if it is a governmental

          7  entity, they are almost always plagued by

          8  procurement problems. There is almost always years

          9  of delay caused by going through bid, getting into

         10  litigation over who got chosen, firing people and

         11  having to start over again when they don't do a good

         12  job, and the government, often times I think just

         13  doesn't get the best, they get the low bidder which

         14  isn't necessarily the best and they tend to not have

         15  the same kind of project management. Across the

         16  board it is not like it is in the private sector.

         17  The procurement and project management are a problem

         18  for governmental agencies often, but beyond that,

         19  for many of these major facilities, they have

         20  complex operations. They are running buses and

         21  trains and fire engines and police cars and so you

         22  have legitimate public operational issues that have

         23  to get reconciled. So that, for example, on the

         24  Transit Authority, there are issues with respect to

         25  if you have a whole bunch of depots where you need

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            53

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  to be doing investigation or remediation, you can't

          3  take them all down. You can't take tanks out of

          4  service. So that is an additional complicating

          5  factor when we are talking about major, huge

          6  facilities that have continuous seven-day-a-week

          7  operations.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And the problem

          9  with that is they also know that, that you can't

         10  take them down, they take advantage of the

         11  situation, and the question is whether or not you

         12  have enough people monitoring it to force them to

         13  comply, and what leverage you have is what you are

         14  talking about.

         15                 MS. KRIS: I don't think you would

         16  ever find anybody anywhere who would say they had

         17  all the resources they want. We could always use

         18  more resources. We also could also better manage the

         19  resources we have, and one of the things -- I mean,

         20  we are trying to aggressively revisit the work that

         21  we have been doing for years to see how we can do it

         22  smarter and better.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It is

         24  unfortunately the way this government operates, both

         25  here and upstate, is that the only time we end up
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          2  getting the resources we need is when there is a

          3  disaster.

          4                 And you and I have agreed the thrust

          5  of this hearing is preventative. We don't want that

          6  to happen, we don't need that to happen, but

          7  unfortunately if we have a major spill, or something

          8  happens, a major contamination of our water supply

          9  or something like that, then we get all the money we

         10  need. So what we have to do is be like Jeramiah and

         11  warn people that we have a potential disaster if we

         12  don't do the job that has to be done.

         13                 Thank you very much. I will get back

         14  to you later.

         15                 Mr. Sabini.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chairman.

         18                 Good morning. Let me respectfully

         19  disagree that the disaster may be occurring now, we

         20  don't know, because the dangers that these

         21  undetected spills are causing, we don't know at this

         22  moment what disaster is occurring.

         23                 In fact, when we can't build a school

         24  on a site, or develop a job-producing development on

         25  a site because there is a spillage, that in effect
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          2  is a disaster. It may not be one that shows up on

          3  the front page of a newspaper, but it is not good.

          4                 Ms. Kris, I am taken at your

          5  testimony where you, the initial -- in your initial

          6  testimony where you talk about the environmentally

          7  protective ongoing and maturing program on

          8  preventing leaks that was in place before RCRA was

          9  in place, 47 states have adopted the regulations or

         10  adopted parallel regulations to EPA. New York and

         11  two others have not.

         12                 They have now testified to the fact

         13  that they will give New York the resources or

         14  additional resources to implement those regulations.

         15                 At this point it almost seems like we

         16  are the guy with the yellow suit at the funeral. We

         17  think we look good, but no one else does, and maybe

         18  somebody should tell us. I think we are telling you.

         19  We don't quite understand why we have to be so far

         20  out of step with what seems to be environmentally

         21  sound regulations, particularly when there is

         22  clearly a problem.

         23                 Just on City-owned tanks alone we had

         24  testimony last hearing that was quite troubling, not

         25  only the amount but the very few that have been
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          2  remediated and the large number, 614 -- in my

          3  neighborhood, if you are playing numbers today 614

          4  would be the number, since it is part 614 and there

          5  are 614 City-owned tanks where we don't know what is

          6  going on. 614, we don't have the foggiest clue to

          7  what is going on with those.

          8                 Aren't those numbers a little

          9  troubling and shouldn't we be doing a little more

         10  than sort of passing around blame to other entities

         11  in government?

         12                 MS. KRIS: Let me see if I can break

         13  that down. You made a number of points.

         14                 First, we hear the message loud and

         15  clear that the City Council, and it will be taken

         16  back to Albany, we do not know what the response

         17  will be but we understand the message that you

         18  believe that this City is not well served by not

         19  having regulations that are completely consistent

         20  with the federal government. That message will be

         21  taken back and we will see what the response is.

         22                 And I have already said that as a

         23  general proposition, no one could quarrel with the

         24  notion that having one set of rules is better than

         25  having two.
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          2                 Having said that, though, I think

          3  that it is a misperception to think that because

          4  there are two sets of rules and because there is

          5  overlap in differences, that therefore, all is bad

          6  and all of these tanks are leaking and nobody knows

          7  anything about them.

          8                 I am not fully familiar with how the

          9  City testified in response to your question, and,

         10  frankly, I am not prepared to speak to each of those

         11  tanks, and without minimizing the points you make, I

         12  just want to make clear that there is a lot going on

         13  out there. Are we covering each and every source?

         14  No, we don't. I mean, we have thousands and

         15  thousands -- I think we have 30,000 tanks in the

         16  state system in New York City, or 22,000 locations

         17  or 30,000 tanks. That's a lot of tanks, even without

         18  adding in the 614 that EPA will be following up with

         19  the City on.

         20                 And I happen to share your concern,

         21  that where we have site contamination issues, those

         22  are a problem, even if they don't affect ground

         23  work. And for the Councilman for Southeast Queens,

         24  if I were in his district, I would be particularly

         25  concerned about drinking water source. I don't

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  minimize any of that. Those are important charges

          3  that this agency has along with EPA and others to

          4  look at.

          5                 And I wouldn't pretend that

          6  perfection is in place here. Government is often

          7  management by crisis and a struggle for resources. I

          8  will say, though, both in response to your question

          9  and in response to the Chairman's last comment, that

         10  I do believe that we have the ear of Albany. I do

         11  believe that Governor Pataki and Commissioner Cahill

         12  are strongly committed to responding to issues in

         13  this City, when it affects the environment in

         14  particular. And that I would urge you not to look at

         15  this issue solely in light of this particular

         16  program, but don't forget, there is also the

         17  Brownfields Clean-Up Program under the Bond Act.

         18                 There is a variety of programs that

         19  we are getting. We are getting significant

         20  contribution from Albany that wasn't there

         21  previously. It is a process, we have more work to

         22  do.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: We respect the

         24  myriad of responsibility your agency has, but the

         25  fact of the matter is that we have known that this
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          2  federal mandate was coming up for a long time now,

          3  particularly when it comes to local governments, and

          4  small businesses, they have been given lots of extra

          5  time, and yet, we seem to only be now addressing it

          6  in a way that says, well, gee, it is a big problem,

          7  we don't really have the resources. We knew that ten

          8  years ago, under prior administrations of different

          9  parties. Yet, the response seems minuscule at best.

         10                 DDC testified at the last hearing

         11  that they have remediated ten City-owned tanks,

         12  that's incredible. And yet the City is just one of

         13  many, many, many tank owners.

         14                 One of the sad things that occurred

         15  to me is that owners of gas stations, for example,

         16  who have either closed or remediated to comply with

         17  the law are almost being played as suckers now,

         18  compared to people who love the law and who didn't

         19  close and didn't remediate and are gaining revenue

         20  every day from the sales of gasoline to consumers,

         21  while the decent people who remediated are

         22  penalized. The good being penalized at the expense

         23  of the offender.

         24                 You talked about a consent agreement

         25  with the Port Authority and that intrigued me a
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          2  little bit. The Port Authority is an interstate

          3  agency created by a compact I believe. Do you

          4  enforce as a matter of routine state environmental

          5  law on Port Authority property?

          6                 MS. KRIS: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: You do, okay.

          8                 You entered into a consent agreement

          9  about Kennedy Airport, what about LaGuardia? They

         10  are still there that we know of, and I would like to

         11  know if you have done inspections there?

         12                 MS. KRIS: I am told that we have a

         13  number of projects underway at LaGuardia. We are

         14  supervising some remediation projects at LaGuardia

         15  and we have some consent orders that are under

         16  negotiation with the Port Authority now concerning

         17  LaGuardia facilities.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: How many tanks

         19  do you think are leaking at LaGuardia.

         20                 MS. KRIS: I don't know the number off

         21  the top of my head. We may have that information, I

         22  don't have it at my disposal right now.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I represent

         24  thousands of people whose homes abut LaGuardia

         25  property up against the Grand Central Parkway and
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          2  clearly they are concerned.

          3                 I am also interested in, do your

          4  regulations, DEC regulations, cover the storage of

          5  what will commonly be known as deicing fluid at

          6  airports?

          7                 MS. KRIS: Is that a question?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: In tanks.

          9                 MS. KRIS: I am sorry, are you asking

         10  me if they store deicing fluid at airports?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Yes, do you

         12  regulate the storage of deicing fluid at airports if

         13  it was stored in an underground tank?

         14                 MS. KRIS: Yes, through our chemical

         15  bulk storage program.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: And are there

         17  leaks in those tanks at LaGuardia for deicing fluid?

         18                 MS. KRIS: I don't know offhand.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Let me also

         20  point out that LaGuardia Airport is surrounded on

         21  three sides by Flushing and Bowery Bays, which are a

         22  part of the East River, the City is undertaking a

         23  multi-million dollar project to create a promenade

         24  along Flushing Bay, a bay which on its best day

         25  stinks and on its worst day is filled with the
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          2  residue of jet fuel and deicing fluid. And while it

          3  is nice that you are moving along with these consent

          4  agreements, I think it would be helpful for the

          5  residents in the area to have a better idea of what

          6  is going on on the property. Port Authority has been

          7  sometimes a good neighbor, sometimes not such a good

          8  neighbor, and yet, trying to get information out of

          9  them is often like trying to get information out of

         10  a kremlin.

         11                 MS. KRIS: We would be happy to come

         12  out to your district, if you would like to convene a

         13  public meeting for people to ask questions, we would

         14  be more than happy to do that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I think for

         16  your safety of your employees you wouldn't want to

         17  do that. People tend to get a little agitated, as

         18  the Port I am sure could testify --

         19                 MS. KRIS: We are familiar with that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: People are not

         21  too friendly around the airport.

         22                 All right, I am interested to hear

         23  what others have to say on this issue, but let me

         24  tell you that you have EPA here, they have testified

         25  on the record that they will give you additional
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          2  resources.

          3                 MS. KRIS: Did they say how much, by

          4  the way?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: No, they are

          6  going to testify.

          7                 MS. KRIS: See, I spoke with them last

          8  week --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: We will ask

         10  them again.

         11                 MS. KRIS: See, I spoke with them last

         12  week and I asked them for money and I didn't see any

         13  checkbook come out.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

         15                 Well, you know, maybe as a sign of

         16  good faith, that if they say there is going to be

         17  money and they tell us sort of close to how much,

         18  maybe you can convince your legislative people in

         19  Albany to put this on the front burner of the

         20  legislative agenda.

         21                 You know, to say you don't know what

         22  is going to go on with this bill, your agency has a

         23  legislative agenda, it pursues it before the two

         24  committees that parallel the work of this Committee

         25  in Albany. And that's not unknown to you, you know
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          2  that, and if it is not on your legislative agenda,

          3  why isn't it and when is it going to be?

          4                 You know, we believe that your agency

          5  is smart enough to know that you can make these

          6  things happen if you want to through negotiations

          7  and lobbying, and to say that we just don't know, to

          8  me is not an answer, a special one. The problem that

          9  was brought to light at the last hearing was of such

         10  enormity to many others that we sort of are amazed

         11  at the level of a problem that we sort of stumbled

         12  into here. We didn't think it was quite as vague as

         13  we now fear it is because of the non-answers we got

         14  or some of the frightening answers we did get from

         15  various government and private agencies. So, I will

         16  ask the Chair if there is a second round call me,

         17  please.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Council Member

         20  Spigner.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chairman.

         23                 Ms. Kris, when you made reference to

         24  one case, recovery of gasoline contaminants from the

         25  New York City Department of Environmental
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          2  Protection's well that supplies water to residents

          3  of Southeast Queens, is that location 223rd Street

          4  and Linden Boulevard, in that vicinity?

          5                 MS. KRIS: Yes, sir.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Has that

          7  clean-up been completed to standards and that those

          8  persons living in that area can use the water with a

          9  degree of confidence?

         10                 MS. KRIS: My understanding is there

         11  is no threat to the water. The well was shut down;

         12  am I correct?

         13                 MR. AUSTIN: Yes.

         14                 MS. KRIS: Well 10 was shut down. If I

         15  could give you a little bit of background on that,

         16  this came to our attention last summer. I don't

         17  recall how we found out about it but we got involved

         18  and began working with DEP and required them to shut

         19  down Well 10, and there is a recovery operation

         20  going on now to recover-- it's a spill from a gas

         21  station not far from the location of Well 10.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Right.

         23                 MS. KRIS: I am told there is no

         24  threat to the drinking water supply and remediation

         25  is ongoing. I also have a briefing document on that
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          2  if you would like.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Had Harry's

          4  Service Station complied with the deadline to

          5  replace its tanks? Was it in compliance?

          6                 MS. KRIS: No.

          7                 They were in violation of our upgrade

          8  requirements. This was detected last summer, which

          9  would have been before the effective date of the

         10  federal requirements, but certainly long after the

         11  effective date of the state requirements, they were

         12  in violation of both.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: They were in

         14  violation and doing business every day?

         15                 MS. KRIS: And they are shut down now,

         16  they are gone.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: He has

         18  discontinued the gas portion of his business and now

         19  --

         20                 MS. KRIS: He has left. The property

         21  owner has no tenant.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: That's right.

         23  But he is selling used cars there now, which is

         24  okay.

         25                 MS. KRIS: By the way, you might be
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          2  interested in knowing, coming before this Committee,

          3  it is heartening to hear one voice concerned for the

          4  environment, that that project exemplifies what this

          5  job is all about for me. I received calls from

          6  electeds on both sides of that issue. I got calls

          7  from electeds saying how can you -- why aren't you

          8  acting quicker and more aggressive; and I got calls

          9  from electeds saying why are you picking on a poor

         10  businessman.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Any elected,

         12  and that is my district, who said why are you

         13  picking --

         14                 MS. KRIS: It wasn't you, by the way.

         15  I am not referring to you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: You bet it

         17  wasn't me, because I think any responsible business

         18  person, and I have got family living within the

         19  service area of Well 10 and a lot of constituents

         20  and friends, and even Harry himself I don't think

         21  would want to contribute to polluting and damaging

         22  the persons who depend on that area for their water.

         23                 MS. KRIS: That's right.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: The problem

         25  we have in Southeast Queens is there are about

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            68

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  500,000 of us south of Grand Central Parkway,

          3  formerly customers of the Jamaica Water Supply

          4  Company and now incorporated --

          5                 MS. KRIS: Right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: We rely

          7  almost exclusively on the underground system for

          8  water, our drinking water. And even worse, if we

          9  don't drink the water and the water table rises --

         10                 MS. KRIS: It floods.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Our basements

         12  are flooded.

         13                 MS. KRIS: Right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: So you are

         15  talking about a 22 or a 44 or a 88, it is a

         16  difficult situation for us. So, we have got to

         17  maintain the integrity of that water system.

         18                 MS. KRIS: Right.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Not only as a

         20  resource, drought and certainly potable water is a

         21  very valuable commodity, but we have had homes, the

         22  DEP water portion at one time was giving us 30

         23  million gallons a day, we reduced that substantially

         24  because we were having a higher water table that was

         25  causing significant flooding in certain parts of the
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          2  district.

          3                 MS. KRIS: Right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: So that is on

          5  the table and it is a reality that we have to live

          6  with.

          7                 MS. KRIS: We agree with you, and in

          8  fact we have met with -- we are always trying to

          9  prioritize what you can focus on. DEC and EPA have

         10  met and we are going to compare our database, we are

         11  going to look to target Southeast Queens to make

         12  sure that we are locating all of the sources out

         13  there of potential contamination.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: And I want

         15  you to accelerate the enforcement of any leaking

         16  situation, whether it is home heating oil, whether

         17  it is gasoline, whether it is chemical whatever,

         18  because we have no alternative to drinking that

         19  water.

         20                 MS. KRIS: We agree.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Other than to

         22  get it the hell out of there.

         23                 MS. KRIS: We agree. I don't know if

         24  this came through in the testimony or not, but if

         25  someone calls in a spill to us or a leaking tank, we
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          2  don't refuse to respond because it is under 1,100

          3  gallons. We respond to whatever spills there are.

          4  So, irrespective to our jurisdictional limits on

          5  tank registrations, we are committed.

          6                 We share your concern about a

          7  drinking water source and we also understand the

          8  flip side of that which is the flooding issue.

          9                 In fact, one of the reasons that we

         10  weren't as ready as we needed to be for the February

         11  26th date, was the night before I had four people on

         12  my staff, some of them were the people here today,

         13  out in Southeast Queens at a public meeting that

         14  Assemblywoman Clark held on this.

         15                 So, I hope you all, if you have

         16  issues or concerns or leads on problems, I hope you

         17  will call my office.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Well, we

         19  certainly will. But often times you don't know an

         20  underground tank is leaking. I mean, you just don't

         21  know.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And as well,

         23  Mr. Spigner, you don't know the size of the tank

         24  that is leaking.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: Absolutely.
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          2                 Now, let me ask you a question. I am

          3  told that there are some 20 states that have

          4  legislation which prohibit delivery of products to

          5  facilities which don't comply with federal

          6  standards.

          7                 I am even told that some New York

          8  counties, and I think they are Westchester, Suffolk,

          9  they have their own tank program. Would DEC support

         10  a similar statewide legislation?

         11                 MS. KRIS: I will take it back to

         12  Albany, and Mr. Dezolt, who runs the Petroleum Bulk

         13  Storage Program will take it back to Albany.

         14                 I do know that we have that for

         15  chemical bulk storage, but you are right, we don't

         16  have it for petroleum.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: I think it

         18  would be good public, sound, prudent public policy

         19  to prohibit anyone, particularly in Southeast

         20  Queens.

         21                 Now, if you want to go to the other

         22  side of Grand Central Parkway where they have some

         23  alternatives, but particularly in Southeast Queens,

         24  I am talking about Queens Village, Jamaica, St.

         25  Albans, Rosedale. My district where I live, I own
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          2  property and have a 30-year mortgage to contend

          3  with, and others in similar situations, we are

          4  stuck. We are stuck and we are depending on you, and

          5  I would urge, you know, that we take the steps

          6  necessary to impose that kind of regulation. It

          7  would be a very appropriate step, in my opinion.

          8                 Now, you don't cover home heating

          9  fuel in your regulations, or is that the federal

         10  government that does that or do you do that?

         11                 MS. KRIS: We cover it if the

         12  collective units come to 1,100 gallons or more.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: There are

         14  some tanks that are specifically designed to

         15  circumvent 1,080, for example. If you have a 1,080

         16  tank, do you have to comply? What is so magical

         17  about 1,100?

         18                 MS. KRIS: It is just the threshold.

         19  It is arbitrary. The federal government comes down

         20  to 110 but they don't cover heating oil, we covering

         21  heating oil but we start at 1,100, which I would

         22  assume is designed to capture the commercial

         23  facilities and not residential.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: If I put a

         25  tank, a 500 gallon tank or a 1,080 gallon tank
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          2  underground, I need not register? I need not comply;

          3  is that what would be the effect of the existing

          4  rules?

          5                 MS. KRIS: With respect to the State

          6  Program, if you had 1,080 and that was it, not above

          7  it, you wouldn't have to register, but you do have

          8  to comply with all of the other requirements. But

          9  you wouldn't have to step forward and pay the

         10  registration fee.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: And no one

         12  would monitor it --

         13                 MS. KRIS: (Confers privately) I am

         14  sorry, Councilman, I interrupted your train of

         15  thought.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: I am just

         17  going to conclude, and I thank you for your

         18  forth-righteousness and your compatible attitude

         19  towards this problem, and I certainly will be in

         20  touch and I look forward to working with you.

         21                 I don't want to be the basis or the

         22  cause of panic in my district. I want our people to

         23  be assured that the water they drink is safe,

         24  although last night on Channel 4, I don't know if

         25  anyone saw it besides me, about Valley Stream and
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          2  Lynnbrook, did anyone see that besides me? There is

          3  a still that has a good deal of play on the 6:00

          4  news, Valley Stream and Lynnbrook were just right

          5  across and it is conceivable that the same aquifers

          6  that are providing water to the wells in our area

          7  don't stop at the Nassau border.

          8                 So, these are current problems

          9  ongoing of a very, very urgent and critical nature,

         10  and I can't emphasize strong enough how important it

         11  is that you work with DEP, DEC, EPA, all of the

         12  various alphabets that are responsible for this part

         13  of our lives.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 MS. KRIS: You have our commitment.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Council Member

         17  Freed.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chair.

         20                 Yes, let me just reiterate what a

         21  number of my colleagues have said, that a lot of us

         22  are really alarmed by what we see as the immensity

         23  of not only the detected spill, but the possibility

         24  of the undetected spills, and sitting here listening

         25  to your testimony and looking at the handout, the
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          2  fact that there are so many of the City-owned

          3  facilities or state-owned facilities where we have

          4  got ongoing monitoring where there were so many

          5  violations, it does make I think all of us wonder

          6  about what else was out there.

          7                 Because my understanding, for

          8  instance, at the New York Housing Authority, the way

          9  we found out that there were problems was when they

         10  went to change the tanks, it's like -- correct me if

         11  I am wrong but that was my understanding.

         12                 MS. KRIS: Actually what I am told

         13  happened, and this is one of the ways in which we

         14  discover problems, is they called in spills -- you

         15  know, there is a legal obligation, irrespective of

         16  whether your tank is registered or not there is a

         17  legal obligation to report spills, and they had

         18  called in a number of spills which led us to

         19  commence the enforcement proceeding.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay, but I

         21  think the reason they called it in or the reason

         22  they found out about it was they were doing, they

         23  were changing some of the tanks and they discovered

         24  it as they were doing changes. Which makes me worry

         25  about what kind of -- what is going on in the
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          2  interim and at the other facilities to see if indeed

          3  there are leakage, there is current leakage where

          4  there aren't changes and all of the tanks that are

          5  out there that have been there for years that may or

          6  may not have been inspected, what could be happening

          7  there. Is there any ongoing inspection at any of

          8  these facilities and how often do they get

          9  inspected?

         10                 MS. KRIS: Yes. Well, at the Housing

         11  Authority, for example, we have a monitor. The

         12  consent order required the Housing Authority to fund

         13  a full-time position so that we could have someone

         14  work on a daily basis with them to get them, you

         15  know, make sure that their program is sufficient.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: But when you

         17  say that the ongoing monitoring, unless you are

         18  telling me that every NYCHA project has spills,

         19  because there are hundreds of NYCHA projects, do

         20  they all get inspected?

         21                 MS. KRIS: I can't tell you what the

         22  program is for inspection but we have a full-time

         23  dedicated person who does nothing but Housing

         24  Authority.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay, but,
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          2  again, does that one person, it would be interesting

          3  to know if they go around to each of the inspection

          4  -- you know, each of the sites, because as I said,

          5  there are so many different facilities and I know I

          6  have had some spills in one of mine and there have

          7  even been problems following up on that, not to

          8  mention they also put in like millions of dollars in

          9  a new heating system which doesn't work, but that's

         10  another story.

         11                 MS. KRIS: Right.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: But I am just

         13  wondering, if you just look at the NYCHA facilities

         14  alone, if the inspection is you say there is

         15  monitoring, but is that monitoring of what we found

         16  out where there are problems? Isn't monitoring of

         17  all of the existing sites? I mean, these are

         18  buildings that are up to 50 years old, and some of

         19  them still have original tanks and things like that.

         20  Logic tells you there are problems going on.

         21                 MS. KRIS: I wouldn't pretend to know

         22  what the inspection schedule is. I could tell you

         23  that as a general matter, what these monitors do is

         24  a combination of things.

         25                 They, first of all, for every one of
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          2  these, first they try to make sure you comply with

          3  the retrofitting and those kinds of things, and at

          4  the same time they are working with trying to make

          5  sure that any leak or spill that has already been

          6  identified is being appropriately responded to, and

          7  they field like a zillion calls from the consultants

          8  and the people working at the entity for how to go

          9  about doing things, they go out in the field and

         10  visit things. So, it's a combination of things. I

         11  would be surprised if the answer to your question is

         12  that we inspect 100 percent of the facilities, I

         13  would be surprised at that on any program.

         14                 And if you are suggesting that there

         15  is a certain amount of fortuity to how we find

         16  things? Yes, that is the answer. It is true.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: I wonder if it

         18  wouldn't make sense, though, on all of these, and

         19  many as well, like the Transit facilities, where we

         20  all know there have been leaks over the years, some

         21  of the areas that you mentioned, well, GATX I guess

         22  will be out of the picture, but with the Port

         23  Authority, a lot of the larger oil distributors, you

         24  know, you mentioned Con Ed, wouldn't it make sense

         25  to have some kind of scheduled where all of these
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          2  get monitored within a certain time limit?

          3                 MS. KRIS: I would guess that there is

          4  something like that. We have work plans for every

          5  one of these kinds of projects. Every staff member

          6  sits down and is accountable for what they are going

          7  to do, I just don't know -- I would be reluctant to

          8  lead you to believe that every facility is regularly

          9  inspected but you know, we cover a lot of territory

         10  and I think are very aggressive in trying to force

         11  as much compliance as possible.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Well, I think

         13  on March 10th we were provided with a list that

         14  there were 614 USTs owned by the City of New York,

         15  just those alone it would seem to me if we are

         16  talking, what are we talking 22 agents in the

         17  metropolitan region?

         18                 MS. KRIS: My people?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Yes.

         20                 MS. KRIS: It is total professional

         21  and clerical staff.

         22                 Those were 614 --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: How many people

         24  actually go out and inspect?

         25                 MS. KRIS: The majority of those
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          2  people. The majority.

          3                 But remember, those 614 were ones

          4  that are covered by the federal regulations.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: They have eight

          6  people.

          7                 MS. KRIS: Many of those may not be

          8  covered by the State, I am not sure.

          9                 The facts are going to develop on

         10  that, obviously. And the fact that they weren't in

         11  anybody's system is a bad thing, and we will be

         12  working with EPA to correct that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Well, this sort

         14  of leads to an obvious question.

         15                 One of the representations that was

         16  made by the EPA at the last hearing we had was that

         17  they would be willing to provide money to the state

         18  if we adopted their regulations. So, the obvious

         19  question is why haven't we done that, particularly

         20  since, what is it, 47 states have already done that?

         21                 MS. KRIS: It isn't for want of asking

         22  by DEC.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay, so what

         24  is it for want of? Is it political will? Are people

         25  not getting the message?
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          2                 MS. KRIS: You need to ask --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Council Member

          4  --

          5                 MS. KRIS: Well, EPA is here.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Council Member,

          7  we have explored that issue. I guess you weren't

          8  here when we did, but we explored that issue ad

          9  nauseam of what they are doing. And as a matter of

         10  fact, not to interrupt their testimony, but EPA is

         11  here and they are prepared to testify as to the

         12  funds they will give the state to --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Right. I think

         14  my point was I didn't exactly want to put them on

         15  the defenses, but I don't think we ever got a clear

         16  response about it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well, there has

         18  been a colloquy on that issue already. We went into

         19  it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: All right, let

         21  me ask you one last thing then.

         22                 When it deals with gas stations,

         23  particularly those tanks over subways, and of

         24  particular concern I guess are gas stations that are

         25  in heavily residential districts, such as Lower
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          2  Manhattan, one of the newest problems we have had, a

          3  new wrinkle in the otherwise probably, I wouldn't

          4  say wrinkle-free scene, is the question of

          5  billboards. And I don't know, you may have been

          6  familiar with some of the problems we have had in

          7  particularly one of the sites downtown, but it is

          8  particularly frightening to those of us who live in

          9  these areas where we know that you have all of the

         10  protocols and ways of dealing with any kind of

         11  building that is going over gas tanks, and yet we

         12  now have huge billboards, steal structures, weigh

         13  many tons, that are put over active gas tanks.

         14                 Worse, there is right now in the City

         15  of New York, there is no real inspection of these

         16  billboards. There is no inspection of the footing,

         17  there is no inspection of, for instance, some of the

         18  structural problems, these in many cases are just

         19  huge structures, you know, single-sided structures,

         20  that go up, they get blown around in the wind, we

         21  have had engineers attest to the fact that many of

         22  these, there are potential problems with

         23  particularly a lot of them. You may have noticed

         24  although it is a little bit different, but the fact

         25  that in Times Square yesterday there was one of the
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          2  billboards that was attached to a building that had

          3  been blown down and caused some injury.

          4                 The point is there are no regulations

          5  for these billboards, and overwhelmingly,

          6  particularly in Lower Manhattan, we are getting

          7  these billboards put over or next to gas tanks, near

          8  gas stations, and we are very concerned.

          9                 Now, we did get the Fire Department

         10  out to look at one, they said, well, there are

         11  certain things that should be done.

         12                 MS. KRIS: And my people went out as

         13  well. I don't know if it is your district or not,

         14  but it is in SoHo or NoHo --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: It was NoHo and

         16  it is my district.

         17                 MS. KRIS: And, yes, we sent out a

         18  spills responder, we spent a good part of a holiday

         19  weekend looking at that issue because the party next

         20  door who had been affected by a prior spill from a

         21  gas station was quite adamant that this was

         22  inappropriate and was quite concerned and had

         23  frankly alarmed a lot of people. So, we put a lot of

         24  time in on that, although as you indicated, it is

         25  not something that we regulate --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Right.

          3                 MS. KRIS: But if it had had any

          4  impact on the remediation system or on the piping,

          5  we certainly would have intervened.

          6                 I assume it is a City Buildings

          7  Department issue, if anybody's.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: No, they

          9  actually turned it over to the Fire Department, and

         10  the Fire Department came in and said that there

         11  should be certain things that are encased and

         12  concrete.

         13                 But the real problem is most of these

         14  billboards go up with absolutely not oversight at

         15  all, no one is paying attention to it. To get them

         16  signed off at the Buildings Department is totally

         17  administerial. They don't even ask if they are over

         18  or near a gas tank. They only thing they basically

         19  ask is what is the zoning. And it is particularly

         20  difficult in an area like that where you have mixed,

         21  you have very mixed zoning, and it started out as

         22  manufacturing but it is now overwhelming

         23  residential. And short of trying to get either your

         24  agency or the Department, you know, Fire Department

         25  out, and usually after the fact, because we only
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          2  find out that these things are going up after the

          3  fact.

          4                 And I will tell you that they had

          5  stopped that facility for awhile. They were made to

          6  do, as I said a number of other things, including

          7  encasing part of it and concrete, but that was only

          8  because we basically caused a problem and asked that

          9  it be done. But there are a lot that are going ahead

         10  that have never been inspected. Many of the

         11  billboards are even put up illegally without any

         12  permits at all, and I am wondering what can be done

         13  about that.

         14                 MS. KRIS: I don't know the answer to

         15  it, but I will say this as an example of another way

         16  in which we learn about things that, you know, a lot

         17  of what we do is in response to calls we get from

         18  members of the public and from elected officials,

         19  that there is a lot going on in the City, you can't

         20  capture it all. Some of it you see as a result of

         21  your regulatory programs, or just being out in the

         22  field, but a lot of it comes to us through the news

         23  media and elected officials, community boards and

         24  members of the public.

         25                 And I don't want to promise you that
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          2  I am going to dedicate part of my staff to a

          3  billboard issue, however, if there are circumstances

          4  where any kind of construction may pose a hazard to

          5  the environment, we want to know about it so we can

          6  determine whether or not to have somebody go out and

          7  get involved.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay, and thank

          9  you for your effort.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, I know you

         11  have been on for a long time and you are doing quite

         12  well and we are getting a lot of information out. I

         13  just want to sort of get some sort of an idea about

         14  something.

         15                 The tanks, in order to be installed,

         16  when they are installing tanks, they must be

         17  registered with DEC and I think the Fire Department

         18  in New York gives them a permit to put them in, so

         19  you have two databases basically. The Fire

         20  Department should have some sort of a database and

         21  DEC should have a database as to which tanks and

         22  where they are.

         23                 MS. KRIS: I am led to believe that

         24  the Fire Department database is incorporated into

         25  ours, but I think your point is well taken. It is
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          2  certainly worth checking to make sure. I think we

          3  all find out we have databases that we didn't know

          4  we had, and I think one of the things we want to do

          5  is maximize the sharing of information.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And the

          7  Department of Buildings may have it.

          8                 MS. KRIS: Right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Now, the tanks

         10  today, I mean the genesis I guess of both the State

         11  law and the federal law is that the tanks that have

         12  been put in place in the last 20 or 30 years were

         13  not up to regulation, to the present regulations,

         14  and we do know that they have deteriorated and if

         15  they aren't leaking, there is a potential for

         16  leaking; is that correct?

         17                 MS. KRIS: I am sorry?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am saying --

         19                 MS. KRIS: Older thanks have the

         20  potential to leak, yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They weren't

         22  made of the same --

         23                 MS. KRIS: If they are made out of

         24  material that corrodes, yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Material that
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          2  corrodes and they didn't have devices there to

          3  determine detection which the modern tanks do have.

          4                 MS. KRIS: Right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So that what we

          6  have asked for is either replacement under your

          7  laws, or federal or state law, is either replacement

          8  or the upgrading of these tanks. It seems to me that

          9  in order to be able to do this, you have to pick up

         10  the old tanks to see what is going on there, if it

         11  needs replacement or upgrading.

         12                 MS. KRIS: Right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They are

         14  probably opting to replace them whenever they bring

         15  them up and not just upgrade them; isn't that

         16  correct?

         17                 What we are doing is, we have two

         18  laws which are resulting in a replacement of all the

         19  tanks, under the fed's of 110 gallons heating oil,

         20  and under the State it's 1,100 gallons, except for

         21  chemicals which is 185 gallons I think it is.

         22                 In a sense what we are doing is we

         23  are trying to replace all of the underground storage

         24  tanks in the City -- in the State.

         25                 MS. KRIS: Nationwide for that matter.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes.

          3                 MS. KRIS: And I am told, I know the

          4  purpose of this hearing is to focus on areas where

          5  we can do more and do better, but I wouldn't want to

          6  lose site of the fact that as a state and as a city

          7  we are -- I am being shown a chart that shows that

          8  79 percent of the New York State tanks that are also

          9  covered by the federal program in the City of New

         10  York are in compliance. Now, that means 21 percent

         11  are not.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: How do we know

         13  they are in compliance?

         14                 MS. KRIS: Because we have different

         15  tracking mechanisms. The federal government and the

         16  state government, we compare notes on these things

         17  so we can try --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: My point is, I

         19  am an owner and I have a tank, it has been there 30

         20  years, I say it is in compliance, do you go and

         21  check every tank to see if there is compliance?

         22                 MS. KRIS: These are either upgraded

         23  or taken out of service. These aren't going to be

         24  the old leakers, right?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But if there is
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          2  an old tank down there, we don't know what is going

          3  on about it, unless we open it up.

          4                 MS. KRIS: That is why the first thing

          5  that we did was to put our emphasis into forcing the

          6  upgrade. Each of us, the federal government and the

          7  state government, because getting rid of the old

          8  corroded equipment is the first step in the process

          9  and then you deal with the --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And that is what

         11  is so important about doing that because that is the

         12  first thing you do is to replace them, and I guess

         13  the second thing to do is see if they leaked and

         14  remediate the leak.

         15                 MS. KRIS: Right.

         16                 Which inevitably flows from replacing

         17  them in the first place. That's the other good thing

         18  about -- I mean, the upgrade program did two things;

         19  first of all, it got rid of the old equipment, and

         20  secondly identified the historical contamination

         21  associated with the leaks.

         22                 So, the good news is that we have

         23  identified and achieved the upgrade or complete

         24  closeout of 79 percent of those. That means we have

         25  21 percent more to go.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Then you have

          3  tanks down there, which you have no knowledge of

          4  whether they leaked or not, but do you inspect each

          5  one of those tanks or do you depend upon the owner

          6  to tell you whether or not the tank is in

          7  compliance?

          8                 MS. KRIS: No, no. There are a variety

          9  of measures that are designed to clue you into that.

         10  Whether it is integrity testing or inventory control

         11  measures, there is a lot of factors that would be an

         12  indicator of whether or not there is a problem,

         13  besides which that owners have an obligation to call

         14  and tell you about spills when they know about them.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is what I

         16  am getting at.

         17                 We have a problem in this City, not

         18  necessarily in this situation, but the Housing Code

         19  violation, and that is called self-certification.

         20  And we have found, because there is very little

         21  enforcement of the people who do not tell the truth

         22  under self-certification, that approximately 33

         23  percent of all of the Housing Code violations in

         24  this City where there have been certifications have

         25  been found to be false certifications. That was
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          2  testimony by the Housing.

          3                 MS. KRIS: Right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And I just want

          5  to know whether if we are depending on

          6  self-certification, we have the realization that a

          7  lot of people do not certify properly, and I don't

          8  know if there is any enforcement of that.

          9                 MS. KRIS: We have both. We have a

         10  combination of inspections done by us,

         11  self-certifications, review of reports, response to

         12  spills complaints from the public, it's a

         13  combination.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS:  Do you check on

         15  your self-certifications?

         16                 MS. KRIS: When we do an inspection.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And can you tell

         18  me what the history of improper self-certification

         19  is? Have you found some improper

         20  self-certifications?

         21                 MS. KRIS: I don't know offhand.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I don't know,

         23  maybe it is something you can determine.

         24                 But I am very wary of it, because in

         25  light of the history of the City in other areas, we
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          2  depend on self-certification, I think it is

          3  something we ought to be very wary of. At least you

          4  should do spot checking and enforcement to see to it

          5  that they should know there is consequences to

          6  falsely certifying.

          7                 MS. KRIS: I agree with you

          8  completely. I come out of an enforcement background.

          9  I spent ten years in the U.S. Attorney's Office

         10  before I went into private practices and the

         11  Achilles' Heel of all of these governmental programs

         12  is that if you don't check and the public knows you

         13  don't check, then, you know, you can get

         14  lackadaisical. So, I do believe that for any of our

         15  programs to function, we have to be out there enough

         16  and doing enough checking to try to keep people on

         17  it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, very good.

         19  Thank you very much.

         20                 We have to leave a whole series of

         21  detailed questions which I wasn't going to bother

         22  you with because they required some research, we are

         23  going to give you an opportunity to look at those

         24  questions and to see what you can do to help us get

         25  a handle on this.
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          2                 MS. KRIS: You mean afterwards?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes, afterwards.

          4                 MS. KRIS: Okay.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr. Sabini has

          6  some questions now but I have asked all of my

          7  questions.

          8                 MS. KRIS: Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I wanted to

         10  extend my appreciation to your staff for your

         11  cooperation.

         12                 MS. KRIS: I want to thank the

         13  Committee as well.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr. Sabini, do

         16  you have a question?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I just wanted

         18  to clarify one thing, because you said the federal

         19  government's leak detection program is the best

         20  preventative, you said something, I am paraphrasing

         21  it but that is the best preventative action that we

         22  know of.

         23                 MS. KRIS: I don't think I said that,

         24  but I may have said that their leak detection

         25  program was somewhat different than ours and they
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          2  may -- do they require more frequent testing?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right. They

          4  require detection devices.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I think you

          6  indicated that in your testimony.

          7                 MS. KRIS: I think they require the

          8  testing to be done annually or monthly, I don't

          9  know. There are differences and theirs is more

         10  stringent.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

         12                 Based on your testimony then, and

         13  based on what you said about responding to

         14  complaints, is it fair to say that if I own an

         15  underground storage tank, that unless something goes

         16  awry, that I should not be expecting DEC inspectors

         17  at my door at any regular basis?

         18                 MS. KRIS: No, I wouldn't agree with

         19  that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. How

         21  often do you inspect tanks?

         22                 MS. KRIS: What we try to do, given

         23  the large number of tanks in the City, is to come up

         24  with risk-based criteria, for example. We put a lot

         25  of money into doing this GIS system, to try to
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          2  identify when you have 30,000 tanks where do you

          3  want to deploy your resources.

          4                 So, as I indicated to you, we have an

          5  ongoing program that started out by targeting gas

          6  stations that are near subway stations, and then we

          7  went from there to gas stations. So, what we do is

          8  we formulate a strategy for where to look, as

          9  opposed to try and randomly inspect 30,000 or even

         10  more than that because you do have some that aren't

         11  in the system.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But the result

         13  of that would mean that there are probably thousands

         14  that never get inspected by your agency?

         15                 MS. KRIS: I really don't know. That

         16  would be speculation.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But it may not

         18  be incorrect speculation?

         19                 MS. KRIS: I am not going to get

         20  trapped into that one.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

         22                 MS. KRIS: I can't say how many we do

         23  inspect or don't inspect.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. You

         25  can't say I am wrong, so I am going to assume I am
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          2  right.

          3                 MS. KRIS: I can't say you are right

          4  either.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

          6                 MS. KRIS: It's a draw.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: All right.

          8  Well, in my mind I think I know the answer to the

          9  question.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I should mention

         12  to you that even though they are not testifying

         13  today, we do have testimony from the Metropolitan

         14  Transportation Authority of the City of New York,

         15  and they make a statement on one of the last pages

         16  of their testimony, and I will give you copies of

         17  it, it says "with regards to petroleum spills

         18  associated with the older tanks, all have been

         19  identified and they have either been remediated or

         20  are in the process of being remediated." I just will

         21  make you aware that is what their testimony is, and

         22  we will get you a copy of their testimony.

         23                 MS. KRIS: I can't confirm or deny

         24  that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am not asking
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          2  you to do that, I am just making you aware of it.

          3  And they all say all gasoline and fuel tank work was

          4  completed prior to December 22nd, 1998, compliance

          5  deadline, at a cost of 3.45 million. In addition,

          6  BNT has plans to install new tanks to make

          7  additional upgrades this year at a projected cost of

          8  1.4 million. I will give you a copy of this.

          9                 MS. KRIS: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And then you

         11  will be aware of it.

         12                 MS. KRIS: I am led to believe that

         13  they replaced all of the tanks they needed to

         14  replace. They have lots of investigation and

         15  remediation to do. They instituted some years ago

         16  $100 million capital program. They tell me they have

         17  spent 80 million of it already in response to our

         18  consent order.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Just another

         20  thing, to summarize where we are coming from, I

         21  think there is general consensus of the Council

         22  members who are here listening to the testimony,

         23  that it would be very helpful if the State would do

         24  everything it can to pass enabling legislation so

         25  that they can afford you the opportunity to enforce
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          2  both the State and the federal law.

          3                 MS. KRIS: Understood.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And in line with

          5  that, the EPA is ready to testify to answer a

          6  question I think you would be very interested in.

          7                 MS. KRIS: I intend to stay and hear

          8  what they have to promise us.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And I understand

         10  Ms. Pinkett has a question. We are just about

         11  finished.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Oh, I am sure

         13  she will be able to manage this. Thank you.

         14                 I wondered, for instance, with sites

         15  that are at service stations or gasoline stations,

         16  and if that station were to close and ultimately

         17  place on that site a food store of some sort, any

         18  use of that site would require the removal of those

         19  tanks; would that be a prerequisite, especially if

         20  there was going to be some place that they are going

         21  to serve food; is that a prerequisite?

         22                 MS. KRIS: Either the tanks have to be

         23  removed, or if they are closed in place, a full site

         24  assessment has to be done to ensure that there

         25  hasn't been any leakage.
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          2                 As a practical matter what happens

          3  when we find these tanks is, especially if they are

          4  older, there is almost always going to be an

          5  investigation remediation, and one of the things we

          6  look at, we have guidance documents that tell us

          7  what level of remediation, the ultimate use of the

          8  property is something that is always taken into

          9  account in helping to define how rigorous the

         10  clean-up has to be.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Would that

         12  then be interpreted to mean that the second business

         13  could not open until such time as a determination

         14  would be made as to the facts that you have stated?

         15                 MS. KRIS: I would say no, because

         16  there is no law that precludes someone from selling

         17  property, or someone from going forward. There is no

         18  legal block.

         19                 As a practical matter, however, what

         20  would typically happen is, once we identify the

         21  property and we are out on the site, those things

         22  get taken care of.

         23                 You know, in this day and age it is

         24  unusual for a developer or an investor to want to

         25  rush in to take over property where there is a known
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          2  site contamination problem, unless they have got

          3  good indications that it is being managed entirely

          4  appropriately.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Well, we

          6  understand, of course, that you can't stop a person

          7  from purchasing property, but that was not the gist

          8  of the question.

          9                 The question is, someone purchases

         10  the property, someone moves forward to set in place

         11  a business, that business would be a concern to the

         12  community at large as to the impact of that business

         13  on that particular community. How then do we ensure

         14  that any potential damage is not the result of

         15  perhaps not having an inspection, that there is no

         16  leakage, that all of the protections that are

         17  necessary for that community are in place, that

         18  there has been inspections and that it is safe for

         19  that community.

         20                 MS. KRIS: Let me answer, I think

         21  maybe this helps.

         22                 While there isn't any automatic legal

         23  bar to prevent the new owner from taking over and

         24  developing the property, we would have jurisdiction

         25  over any site where there is an investigation or
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          2  remediation ongoing, and that would be paramount.

          3  There would be no development permitted on a

          4  property if it was going to in any way interfere

          5  with the investigation and remediation, and we would

          6  certainly be looking at making sure that whatever

          7  investigation remediation were occurring would be

          8  consistent with the intended use of the property.

          9                 So, while there is not a bar against

         10  future use of the property, we are not blind to it

         11  either. We would certainly continue to have active

         12  involvement in the site.

         13                 And one example being, that as I said

         14  the City of New York condemned Mobil's property to

         15  upgrade a sewage treatment plan, I mean, we are

         16  heavily involved in making sure that whatever

         17  construction activities occur on the site don't

         18  impede the remediation and conversely that the

         19  contamination on site in no way jeopardizes health

         20  and safety of people involved in the construction

         21  activities of the community who is going to be

         22  affected by construction activity.

         23                 So, I think your question, I think

         24  your short response is those factors are certainly

         25  relevant to my agency.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 Once again, thank you. We appreciate

          6  your testimony and what you are doing and what we

          7  are trying to do here.

          8                 Next we are going to have for

          9  appointed questions, George Pavlou and John Kushwara

         10  from the EPA. And then after that, to be followed by

         11  Marvin Kirshner -- no, excuse me. Robert Paterson

         12  will be testifying. Mr. Paterson will be testifying

         13  next.

         14                 Welcome back, gentlemen. I appreciate

         15  you being here.

         16                 MR. PAVLOU: (Not identified) thank

         17  you very much. It is our pleasure to be back.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The reason I am

         19  calling you is there is a little controversy going

         20  on here with respect to your testimony in February,

         21  by whether or not there are funds available for the

         22  State, if there are funds available to the state,

         23  when and if the the State decides to pass the

         24  enabling legislation for the purpose of enforcing

         25  the federal regulations.
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          2                 Now, would you want to reiterate your

          3  testimony, and if you have anything to add, we would

          4  certainly be glad to hear you, and I am sure the

          5  Director, Mary Ellen Kris, would like to hear it

          6  also.

          7                 MR. PAVLOU: (Not identified) it is a

          8  pleasure to do so actually. But first let me

          9  reaffirm what I stated on February the 26th, that

         10  the State of New York does run a competent and

         11  effective program with respect to the underground

         12  storage tanks, and that the only thing that is

         13  missing, the only missing factor is the enabling

         14  legislation to allow the Department to assume the

         15  delegation and enable them to run the federal

         16  portion of the program as well.

         17                 With that stated, let me I guess

         18  summarize what I stated before in my previous

         19  testimony, that EPA is providing support to the

         20  state in the form of funding, that we have two

         21  levels of funding, one for underground storage

         22  tanks, which at the current level runs about

         23  $300,000 a year, and under the leaking underground

         24  storage tanks it's about $3 million a year.

         25                 Now, the bulk of that money goes
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          2  essentially to allow the state to hire people to

          3  implement --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Is this money

          5  being given to the state now?

          6                 MR. PAVLOU: Yes, sir.

          7                 But let me address your question, if

          8  you will allow me to continue.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Sure.

         10                 MR. PAVLOU: Now, EPA can also fund

         11  the state to develop the necessary regulations that

         12  would be essentially equivalent to EPA in those

         13  areas that we seem to be inconsistent.

         14                 We can also provide additional

         15  funding to allow the state to develop the program

         16  once the necessary regulations have been developed.

         17  You know, for a short period of time, I can't

         18  specify the period right now, but we can provide the

         19  necessary seed funding to enable the state to run a

         20  delegated program.

         21                 Now, once delegation has been

         22  achieved, under the leaking underground storage tank

         23  program, we can provide some additional funding

         24  which is at the discretion of the region, money that

         25  we are getting from the leaking underground storage
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          2  tank trust fund from Washington. It is not in the

          3  form of millions of dollars, but it is going to be

          4  an additional, you know, several hundred thousand

          5  dollars, 300, 500,000 dollars.

          6                 Now, I understand that that may not

          7  be enough to cover all of the cost that the State

          8  may be assuming, because as you mentioned and Mary

          9  Ellen reiterated, there is a difference of the

         10  universe of tanks that the State would be assuming

         11  once they change their regulations to include 110

         12  gallon tanks.

         13                 Now, that cost at this point in time

         14  I do not know if it is going to be reasonable, a

         15  reasonable incremental cost, if it is going to be

         16  significant or prohibitive in nature, but we are

         17  certainly willing to sit down with the State and

         18  find out what those needs are and to the extent

         19  possible, to the extent that our discretion allows

         20  us, we can fund a portion of that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The point was,

         22  and as you heard her testimony, is that the State,

         23  and I am in very great sympathy, and not only this

         24  state but many states I am sure involve other

         25  regulations, you know I serve on the local
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          2  government advisory committee to the EPA

          3  Administrator, there is a reticence and a real bad

          4  feeling on unfunded mandates, to use the word as you

          5  have heard that expression. And we are very

          6  concerned, even in this big City of New York,

          7  because our problem may not be as small as some

          8  other states who cannot afford it --

          9                 MR. PAVLOU: Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But the fact of

         11  the matter is we are a big state and we have big

         12  problems. So the issue really has to be what kind of

         13  dollars we are talking about, and I am glad to hear

         14  there are some dollars, it does seem like a small

         15  amount in light of the problem, but what about, what

         16  kind of dollars are we talking about helping them

         17  develop the regulations and enforcement?

         18                 MR. PAVLOU: Well, I cannot specify a

         19  specific cost at this point in time.

         20                 Certainly the state can --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But can you give

         22  us the range and the availability -- the amount in

         23  the fund that the money would come from?

         24                 MR. PAVLOU: Sure.

         25                 I would imagine, and I could only go
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          2  back to what my previous experience has been in

          3  different programs, maybe something in the

          4  neighborhood of $100,000.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: For that?

          6                 MR. PAVLOU: For the development of

          7  the regulations.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We are not even

          9  talking a million dollars for the whole program?

         10                 MR. PAVLOU: No.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The reticence of

         12  --

         13                 MR. PAVLOU: I fully understand that,

         14  and I sympathize their position as well. In my

         15  previous testimony I did say that this is a program

         16  that is starved, you know, in terms of resources,

         17  and the way it was developed was for the State to

         18  assume the regulatory responsibility based on the

         19  notion that the states, one, they had program

         20  predating those of EPA and theoretically they have a

         21  mature program in place and if they were to upgrade

         22  their regulations it would be only on incremental

         23  cost to what they are already experiencing.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Because they are

         25  limited to 1,100 tank capacity and you are going
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          2  down to 110, and there may be a huge amount of tanks

          3  that are now under their jurisdiction which weren't

          4  previously under their jurisdiction.

          5                 MR. PAVLOU: That is certainly a

          6  possibility.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And that is why

          8  perhaps I think there should be some recommendations

          9  made to provide more funding, because this is money

         10  that the feds will save.

         11                 MR. PAVLOU: It is not an unreasonable

         12  request, because at the same time, it is good, sound

         13  public policy for one entity to regulate this, to

         14  manage this regulatory program.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Let's put it

         16  this way: If there is a disaster it is going to cost

         17  a heck of a lot more money.

         18                 MR. PAVLOU: I agree with that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And sometimes it

         20  is good to put money into prevention, and it seems

         21  to me that it is something that I may take up with

         22  the local government advisory board. I think we

         23  ought to be thinking very seriously about it.

         24                 MR. PAVLOU: You are truly right in

         25  that respect. At the same time, the EPA regulations
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          2  are in effect. Everybody has to comply with those

          3  regulations that fall within the jurisdiction of the

          4  regulations.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That's true. But

          6  the state doesn't have to enforce them because of

          7  the fact that they haven't passed the enabling

          8  regulations.

          9                 MR. PAVLOU: That is true, but at the

         10  same time, I want to reiterate what Mary Ellen has

         11  said, that we enjoy a cordial professional

         12  relationship --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And we hope it

         14  continues. But right now the City of New York is

         15  subject to regulations by eight regulators under,

         16  working under EPA covering the entire State of New

         17  York, the entire State of New Jersey, the entire

         18  commonwealth of Puerto Rico, as well as the American

         19  Virgin Islands. And that sort of leaves us with a

         20  real burden of compliance.

         21                 MR. PAVLOU: Yes. We have eight

         22  inspectors. I should also say that in the State of

         23  New Jersey and the commonwealth of Puerto Rico,

         24  Puerto Rico has been delegated the program, New

         25  Jersey is running their own program, so our eight
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          2  inspectors are truly developing their attention to

          3  New York State and the Virgin Islands, but the

          4  Virgin Islands is a very small entity, a very small

          5  program.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: In the winter

          7  months it's a very good program.

          8                 MR. PAVLOU: Yes, some of us become

          9  winter birds, you know, migrating south.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We are thinking

         11  of having a trip to oversee the program.

         12                 MR. PAVLOU: We do do that.

         13                 At the same time, you know, talking

         14  about preventive measures by EPA, we did do some

         15  homework back in the office. We did review our

         16  records. We identified several hundred facilities in

         17  Southeast Queens, in the watershed area, we can go

         18  out there and issue -- they are small facilities,

         19  mind you, but because they are located on top of,

         20  you know, sole source aquifers, they can impact

         21  drinking water, we can issue field citations, in

         22  other words it is like a traffic ticket. You know,

         23  the person can go to the gasoline station and on a

         24  per tank basis can give at ticket of up to $900. And

         25  that person has 30 days within which to comply and
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          2  upgrade or close down the tank. They can request a

          3  30-day extension, after which if they still do not

          4  comply we can follow up with administrative

          5  referrals.

          6                 So, we are, you know, we are moving

          7  along.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We do

          9  understand, it doesn't take very much to contaminate

         10  our water supply.

         11                 MR. PAVLOU: That's true.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We are very

         13  concerned about it.

         14                 So, I thank you very much. Is there

         15  anything else you want to add?

         16                 MR. PAVLOU: No. I want to thank you

         17  for inviting us back, and it was a pleasure.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We will keep in

         19  touch with you. This is a very important issue to

         20  the City of New York.

         21                 MR. PAVLOU: For us too. It was a

         22  pleasure sitting in the audience listening to Mary

         23  Ellen.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 MR. PAVLOU: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr. Paterson.

          4  Robert Paterson.

          5                 I hope that the people from the Port

          6  Authority will bear with me. They will be next. The

          7  Port Authority will be next.

          8                 Mr. Paterson, welcome. I am sorry

          9  this took so long, but the issue is extremely

         10  important and requires our attention.

         11                 MR. PATERSON: Thank you, Chairman

         12  Michels.

         13                 My name is Robert Paterson. I have a

         14  statement that I am supplying to you, and we have

         15  other members who may speak after, but unfortunately

         16  we lost several of the people who were going to

         17  testify this morning because we were under the

         18  impression from your staff that the public would

         19  have a chance to speak early in this process and the

         20  members of the agencies employed by the State or the

         21  federal government who I would hope give deference

         22  to the members of the public who have to take time

         23  off from work to come and testify before a public

         24  hearing on a public matter that involves the

         25  environment and --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The usual

          3  procedures here, if you are familiar with it, is

          4  that the --

          5                 MR. PATERSON: No, no, I am quite

          6  familiar with how it is that the public agencies --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I don't know who

          8  made that representation to you, but we fully intend

          9  to hear from the public --

         10                 MR. PATERSON: I understand that, but

         11  I just wish that that kind of deference to employees

         12  who should be here to testify especially for the

         13  government oversight hearing trying to develop

         14  legislation, that is part of what the public expects

         15  government and its agencies to do. But when the

         16  public shows up to give information and to relay its

         17  experience on the particular topic of the

         18  legislation, it would be very helpful and

         19  considerate to realize that these people are being

         20  employed elsewhere --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: If we knew ahead

         22  of time you would be here we would try to --

         23                 MR. PATERSON: I understand that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Right now, they

         25  expect to be heard, these people are being highly
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          2  paid --

          3                 MR. PATERSON: By you and me.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But they have

          5  jobs to do and not to be here only.

          6                 MR. PATERSON: Well, actually this is

          7  probably one of their more important jobs.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I think so. I

          9  think next time if you want to come in --

         10                 MR. PATERSON: Well, actually, I would

         11  ask you, and I know that you do this regularly for

         12  environmental matters of very serious weight, to

         13  have a public hearing particularly devoted for

         14  public input --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We do that

         16  during the budget period.

         17                 MR. PATERSON: But I am talking about

         18  on a --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We just had some

         20  of those hearings.

         21                 MR. PATERSON: I understand --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And we will have

         23  them again.

         24                 MR. PATERSON: But not on budget, on

         25  an environmental matter.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay.

          3                 MR. PATERSON: But that set aside --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS:  We digress.

          5                 MR. PATERSON: Not really, because it

          6  is very important.

          7                 I am here to testify personally as

          8  the Vice President of Myrtle Avenue Merchants

          9  Association, our President Roy Vanasco was not able

         10  to stay, he also works in a business on Myrtle

         11  Avenue.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: This is Myrtle

         13  Avenue in Brooklyn?

         14                 MR. PATERSON: Myrtle Avenue in

         15  Brooklyn.  Downtown Brooklyn.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And who is the

         17  President?

         18                 MR. PATERSON: Roy Vanasco. And I have

         19  correspondence which I gave to Archie Spigner which

         20  will filter down I think through the process.

         21                 Also, if I just might introduce, we

         22  have Mrs. Crawford, who is an adjoining property

         23  owner across the street.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Welcome.

         25                 MS. CRAWFORD: Thank you.
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          2                 MR. PATERSON: And we had another

          3  member of the community who lived adjacent to the

          4  property that has underground storage tanks and has

          5  had persistent problems with the kind of leaking

          6  situation or the general effect of an underground

          7  storage tank in a residential area.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Is that Mr.

          9  Carson.

         10                 MR. PATERSON: We have a second issue

         11  that has to do with the full regulation of

         12  underground storage tanks as they relate to

         13  ground-disturbing activities covered by

         14  Environmental Protection EPA and NEPA regulations,

         15  that are of a very serious nature but a rather

         16  special one, and I would like to take that up

         17  separately --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Fine.

         19                 MR. PATERSON: Because the issue that

         20  we are talking about --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I see Mr. Carson

         22  here, I didn't see him here before.

         23                 MR. PATERSON: But it's a special

         24  issue. But the first one has to do with the public

         25  health and safety relating to soil contamination in
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          2  residential areas, residentially zoned areas.

          3                 And what I would like to bring to

          4  your attention as one interested in drafting the

          5  kind of legislation of the kind of resolution for

          6  the Council to help guide these City and State and

          7  federal agencies, but also I would like to bring to

          8  the attention of the State and the federal agencies

          9  that a number of the provisions that actually

         10  directly affect the public and that is the SERA

         11  (phonetic) and the right-to-know legislation

         12  relating to spills or relating to --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Hazardous

         14  materials.

         15                 MR. PATERSON: Hazardous materials as

         16  they affect the public, those kinds of regulations

         17  need to have much, much more stringent oversight and

         18  watchfulness on the part of the agency, and I don't

         19  know whether --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We refer to it

         21  as teeth.

         22                 MR. PATERSON: Yes, teeth. But that is

         23  a particular aspect where self-certification would

         24  absolutely be meaningless.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Right.
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          2                 MR. PATERSON: And you really need to

          3  have a better notification. And I am very pleased to

          4  hear DEC has a very up-to-date GIS program which I

          5  would assume would combine the database of the

          6  Sanborn Map Company, perhaps dating back to the

          7  1880s or maybe even the 1840s when you would really

          8  begin to understand where underground storage tanks

          9  are that really have serious implications for people

         10  living in residential areas, particularly

         11  residential areas that were once industrial areas.

         12  And you have cave-ins or subsidence of the ground

         13  over 100-year-old undergrounds of who knows what was

         14  in there, could be lead, arsonic, could be serious

         15  heavy metal contamination.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Right.

         17                 MR. PATERSON: But the issue here that

         18  we will testify about is that underground storage

         19  tanks were allowed at a certain period of time

         20  before state and NEPA regulations came into effect

         21  in the sixties and the fifties, the tanks that Mr.

         22  Sabini referred to. And they are allowed in some

         23  cases in manufacturing areas, but in other cases

         24  they are being allowed by zoning board standards and

         25  appeals permits that allow these tanks in
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          2  residential areas. And what we would like to have is

          3  the City and the State have some kind of restriction

          4  on the placement of underground storage tanks or the

          5  replacements, especially where these things are old

          6  and they fail and they have to be replaced with

          7  something of a new technology, but that these

          8  regulatory agencies actually restrict and not allow

          9  the replacement of underground storage tanks in

         10  residential areas where the original placement was

         11  done before a particular restrictive zoning came

         12  into effect.

         13                 I think that this idea of

         14  grandfathering contaminated conditions,

         15  grandfathering exposure to hazardous chemicals,

         16  grandfathering is okay for certain benign and rather

         17  maybe inconvenient situations that we try to sort of

         18  blend and everybody is happy and we grandfather some

         19  things in, but it is kind of like grandfathering

         20  murder, or grandfathering a felony assault on a

         21  continual basis, because people can die from some of

         22  these kinds of contaminations that are allowed to

         23  continue, rather than just being found, remediated

         24  and absolutely disallowed in residential areas. So

         25  we should not grandfather that kind of harm to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            121

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  adjacent residences.

          3                 Now, that said, it is a rather strong

          4  statement and I hope it will be taken to heart by

          5  the agencies, but maybe it can find its way into

          6  very strong local legislation with teeth, as the

          7  Chairman points out.

          8                 More direct testimony actually from

          9  people who get affected by it. I am here as a local

         10  representative organization interested in this.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you very

         12  much. Just push the button.

         13                 MS. MATHIS-CRAWFORD: Good afternoon,

         14  Mr. Chairman, members of the City Council. My name

         15  is Verina Mathis-Crawford, and I am a resident on

         16  Vanderbilt Avenue, I live at 137 Vanderbilt Avenue,

         17  so in addition to obviously representing myself and

         18  my interests as a citizen on the block, I am also

         19  representing the Vanderbilt Avenue Block

         20  Association, and this is in direct contention with

         21  what we understand to be a renewal of a variance

         22  that will allow Exxon to re-up, if you would, the

         23  ability to have a gas station which is on the corner

         24  of Vanderbilt Avenue.

         25                 Again, I guess as residents we find
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          2  it hard to believe that in this day and age, knowing

          3  that there are chemicals in gas, that this gas

          4  station can be legally continued to allow to remain

          5  on that lot.

          6                 So, I am going to read just a very

          7  brief statement that the Association, the Vanderbilt

          8  Avenue Association, put in place to enlighten and

          9  ensure that all of the residents of Vanderbilt

         10  Avenue are very much aware of what appears to be

         11  taking place.

         12                 So, I will start off by saying by law

         13  gas stations are not allowed to be within 400 feet

         14  of homes, because the chemicals used in gas are

         15  toxic, especially to children.

         16                 I personally reside approximately 150

         17  feet away from the gas station through a legal

         18  loophole and Exxon was allowed to renew their

         19  variance to remove their three service bays and

         20  replace them with a 24-hour conventional bay without

         21  presenting their plans to the local residents so we

         22  in turn could voice our concern.

         23                 Local residents who will be most

         24  affected by the lease renewal and renovation should

         25  have some say about traffic, noise, pollution and
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          2  crime studies. And appeals process allows us until

          3  the end of March to gather evidence to support an

          4  action to reverse the variance which allows Exxon to

          5  operate on our block.

          6                 By law they should relocate to a

          7  corner in compliance, such as Flushing Avenue. By

          8  loophole they remained and contaminate our corner.

          9  What can we do? What can you do to support our

         10  effort to try and reverse this?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You are asking

         12  us questions?

         13                 MS. MATHIS-CRAWFORD: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We generally

         15  don't answer questions. But let me ask you some

         16  questions. We just ask them.

         17                 MS. MATHIS-CRAWFORD: Well, I hope

         18  that we are a team here today.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Obviously we

         20  would like to help you, and in the Environmental

         21  Protection Committee we are very concerned with any

         22  contamination.

         23                 The first question I want to ask you,

         24  do they sell diesel fuel at that gas station?

         25                 MR. PATERSON: They did at one time. I
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          2  think that was a restriction but they may have a

          3  diesel tank. No one really knows.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The reason I am

          5  asking is if you have a high incidence of asthma in

          6  your community --

          7                 MR. PATERSON: And we do.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is a

          9  reason, because diesel fuel has been determined to

         10  be one of the largest contributors to asthma in the

         11  City.

         12                 Further, of course, it used to be

         13  when they sold leaded gas, and I don't believe they

         14  sell -- it is outlawed.

         15                 MR. PATERSON: The gas station is 30

         16  years old, so it had leaded gas tanks.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But it doesn't

         18  have leaded gas now, that has been outlawed for many

         19  years.

         20                 MS. MATHIS-CRAWFORD: Yes, I

         21  understand.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And as somebody

         23  who as been at the forefront of fighting lead

         24  poisoning in children, it is something that concerns

         25  me. That used to be an argument also against it.
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          2                 MS. MATHIS-CRAWFORD: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But are they

          4  before the Board of Standards and Appeals, or where

          5  are we now?

          6                 MR. PATERSON: They are technically

          7  still before the Board of Standards and Appeals,

          8  because we have from a March 2nd date where they

          9  granted the variance, 30 days under the procedure to

         10  present sufficient cause to reopen the process, and

         11  hear more evidence or more information. And this

         12  decision was entered into before you began your

         13  series of hearings giving testimony on underground

         14  storage tanks.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Our hearings

         16  would not affect your situation.

         17                 MR. PATERSON: No, no. But information

         18  has come forward as a result of your hearings, which

         19  I hope that is one of the --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We are hopeful

         21  that they are storage tanks which are fully in

         22  compliance with the law --

         23                 MR. PATERSON: Not at the present

         24  time.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We don't want
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          2  leaks.

          3                 MR. PATERSON: Not at the present

          4  time. And we haven't seen them sign a DEC protocol.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: To your

          6  immediate right is the Director of the --

          7                 MR. PATERSON: I have plenty of paper

          8  for DEC later.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: -- DEC, and I am

         10  sure she would give you as much audience as possible

         11  and as much as she possible can to see to it that if

         12  there is a health concern, both EPA and DEC and the

         13  City Health Department and EPA would be cooperative

         14  on that. It is something that I think bears looking

         15  into.

         16                 MR. PATERSON: But the issue that the

         17  Vanderbilt Block Association and Mrs. Crawford

         18  pointed out, is this one of an old variance came

         19  before the zoning change, and under current law, see

         20  they are only maintaining this through a constant

         21  roll-over of the --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They are

         23  grandfathering in.

         24                 MR. PATERSON: No, no. See, they

         25  weren't grandfathered in by zoning, they got a BSA
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          2  approval before.

          3                 See, you don't get grandfathered by

          4  BSA, you have to constantly go back and get

          5  renewals.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I understand

          7  what you are saying, but the BSA is a separate

          8  entity from the City Council. It's a judicial body.

          9                 MR. PATERSON: But the Council could

         10  create its own local law that says, which it has

         11  done actually in terms of planning law, where you

         12  amortize certain objectionable uses under the zoning

         13  regulation.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Right.

         15                 MR. PATERSON: You are not allowed to

         16  maintain certain uses, because it is against good

         17  public policy.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We are going to

         19  take that under advisement.

         20                 MR. PATERSON: Yes.  We would like you

         21  not to have an amortization of dangerous and

         22  hazardous material that affect people that would not

         23  be generally allowed in the zoning for residential

         24  areas. If it were industrial or heavily commercial

         25   --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I understand

          3  exactly what you are saying. I understand exactly

          4  what you want and I am very sympathetic, and I would

          5  probably be sitting there testifying where you are

          6  sitting had it been done in my community, and,

          7  therefore, it behooves me to give you all the help I

          8  can give you --

          9                 MR. PATERSON: I am very appreciative

         10  of that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And we do have

         12  here with you your Council member, Mary Pinkett.

         13                 MR. PATERSON: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: She has been

         15  listening intently and I am sure that she can help

         16  in every way possible.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: And also,

         18  since my door has never been closed to the

         19  Vanderbilt Block Association, I have helped them in

         20  the past, and I certainly know, I haven't heard that

         21  they have come to the Community Board and spoken on

         22  this issue.

         23                 Have you been to the community board?

         24                 MS. MATHIS-CRAWFORD: Yes. As far as I

         25  understand that has happened.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: When?

          3                 MS. MATHIS-CRAWFORD: I don't have the

          4  documentation.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Okay, fine.

          6                 What I would like to do is, one, that

          7  we would --

          8                 MR. PATERSON: I have the

          9  documentation.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PATERSON: Excuse me, I

         11  am sure you do, Bob. But I think the Vanderbilt

         12  Block Association will also need to have the support

         13  of the community to work with you on all of those

         14  issues, I surely will do that because we do work

         15  within our community and we will do that.

         16                 I have listened attentively to this

         17  and I am aware of the issue and we will certainly do

         18  all that we can to work with you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You are very

         20  lucky because Mary Pinkett happens to be one of the

         21  most effective members of the Council.

         22                 If you have got her on your side, you

         23  are in good shape.

         24                 MS. MATHIS-CRAWFORD: Well, is a move

         25  forward position that we should meet with you,
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          2  Councilwoman?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Well, I

          4  always think it helps.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 MR. PATERSON: Now, if I could just,

          7  Chairman, because we have waited so long and this is

          8  a very important issue.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Proceed.

         10                 MR. PATERSON: The underground storage

         11  tanks regulations, presently as they are crafted by

         12  EPA and also crafted by the State do not have very

         13  detailed, if any, guidelines, out of just a very

         14  casual referral to compliance with NEPA regulations,

         15  as they relate to the National Historic Preservation

         16  Act and the Archeological Resource Protection, I

         17  bring this up because underground storage tanks by

         18  their very nature involve ground-disturbing

         19  activity. And as you are well aware, and I am sure

         20  as the historic districts of the various parts of

         21  the City know for sure, and this Council's Historic

         22  Preservation Committee knows, we have a lot of

         23  underground archeological resources, we have a very

         24  prominent one going on outside right now in the City

         25  Hall Park, and just down the block in the African
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          2  Burial Ground, and you have had testimony over the

          3  past couple of years about newly found cemeteries

          4  and situations --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Not in this

          6  Committee but in other committees.

          7                 MR. PATERSON: Yes.

          8                 But in most of the regulation of

          9  those kinds of activities happen through the

         10  National Environmental Protection Act, through NEPA

         11  application of certain parts of the regulations that

         12  apply to ground-disturbing activities.

         13                 In the particular case that I would

         14  like to bring to your attention today, and to both

         15  DEC and EPA, which you know they are familiar with,

         16  there happens to be a gas station on a federal

         17  property, federal jurisdiction in the Brooklyn Navy

         18  Yard. The reason that Mr. Carson is here is that he

         19  represents the Committee to honor black heros.

         20                 This gas station in the Brooklyn Navy

         21  Yard I think has a cert of somewhere in the sixties

         22  of being put in there, and the situation actually

         23  comes now to light from 1994 on, that the gas

         24  station is plunk in the middle of a U.S. cemetery,

         25  and the issue that is very key here is the
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          2  regulations that apply to underground storage tanks

          3  were not properly referred historic preservation,

          4  the shipos (phonetic) office or to the State

          5  archeologist or to have all of the State archeology

          6  people involved in the determination of what was

          7  done with the underground storage tank material. We

          8  understand that there was a leak or there was a

          9  removal, according to the EPA regulations in '93,

         10  and the amount of material that was identified as

         11  polluted by hydrocarbon contamination was something

         12  in the neighborhood of 1,500 tons of material, 1,500

         13  tons. One-hundred and fifty ten-ton trucks lined up

         14  along Flushing and Tenth Avenue, if you could

         15  picture that, would have to be removed from that

         16  site, or was indicated by a naval --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But the law not

         18  only requires that there be removal and replaced

         19  with a legal storage tank, but it also requires that

         20  there be an abatement of the contaminated condition.

         21                 MR. PATERSON: Oh, I have every

         22  confidence that the environmental part of it was

         23  handled in terms of the contamination. What was not

         24  handled, as no one has been able to shows us the

         25  report, what has not been handled was the
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          2  investigation, serious archeological investigation,

          3  of that soil. Because whether it had hydrocarbons

          4  pollution in it or not, it most certainly had very

          5  important archeological remains in that 1,500 tons.

          6  Because the gas station was built on the top of a

          7  cemetery that we later found out was not

          8  deactivated.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So what you are

         10  saying is that there was a leak, there was a

         11  contamination of the soil involved in the cemetery

         12  and the material was removed.

         13                 MR. PATERSON: Right. No coordination

         14  with shipo --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And we don't

         16  know where it was removed to?

         17                 MR. PATERSON: We don't know where it

         18  was removed to. We don't have any archeological

         19  study, we have no phase one, two or three. We have

         20  no reports.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So probably

         22  there is very little we can do with that site except

         23  not let them do it in any other site.

         24                 MR. PATERSON: No. Unfortunately if

         25  the law was complied with, the 1990 right-to-know
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          2  act and the SERA law required a documentation of

          3  where that soil went for the concerns to locate

          4  where the disposal of that contaminated soil would

          5  be.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But they didn't

          7  comply with the law?

          8                 MR. PATERSON: I don't know that. But

          9  that, at least if it were complied with would give

         10  you who took the soil away, what the contract was,

         11  where it went, and be able to do that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well, it seems

         13  to me, and then Mr. Carson will come and testify, he

         14  will be here, and I think he is actually being very

         15  articulate in representing -- Mr. Carson, why don't

         16  you sit up there. Come sit up here.

         17                 Mr. Carson, tell us what you want to

         18  tell us.

         19                 MR. CARSON: Obvious, it may not be

         20  necessary, my friend here and neighbor has decided

         21  that I may not be --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr. Carson, I

         23  have a congressman and his name is Charlie Reingall

         24  and he says everything is said but not everybody has

         25  said it, so here you have your opportunity to say
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          2  it, even though he may have said it also.

          3                 MR. CARSON: Well, I have a great deal

          4  of love for a congressman that he replaced, who

          5  always said --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Same as he.

          7                 MR. CARSON: Now, see, you are going

          8  to be my friend here.

          9                 I came because I thought it would be

         10  a good opportunity for us to get on record the

         11  situation that has begun to really become

         12  potentially explosive in the City.

         13                 Some years ago we discovered that

         14  there was some remains a few blocks from here --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The Negro Burial

         16  Grounds. They refer to it as the Negro Burial

         17  Grounds.

         18                 MR. CARSON: We changed the name while

         19  we stopped the construction. That is what I am

         20  trying to tell you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Correct.

         22                 MR. CARSON: We changed the name, but

         23  it wasn't that no longer, it became the African

         24  Burial Ground.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I have been
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          2  there and I am fully aware of the site.

          3                 MR. CARSON: They barred me, they told

          4  me I am not allowed.

          5                 Anyway, the point is that in this

          6  endeavor that we discovered, it also opened up a

          7  whole other area at what happened to all of the

          8  Africans that were buried through the years. And so

          9  a few months later, Councilwoman Mary Pinkett's

         10  district, which is the Navy Yard, I attended a

         11  meeting there and we found that some remains had

         12  been uncovered there by the United States Navy.

         13                 In beginning to voice our feelings

         14  about that and asking about the whole situation, the

         15  Navy decided that they would give me some history.

         16                 I would like to just read this to you

         17  so you get an idea of what this whole, where this

         18  whole thing can go back to.

         19                 This is from the Commanding Officer

         20  of the U.S. Naval Hospital on the 14th of January,

         21  1927, to the Superintendent National Cemetery,

         22  Cypress Hills, Long Island, New York.

         23                 Subject: Revised list of names of

         24  remains removed from Naval Hospital Cemetery.

         25  Enclosure.
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          2                 Enclosed herewith is a list of the

          3  names and certain data in connection with the

          4  remains of the dead removed from the cemetery of the

          5  U.S. Naval Hospital, Brooklyn, New York, and

          6  re-entered in the National Cemetery of Cypress

          7  Hills, Long Island, New York, completed September

          8  11th, 1926.

          9                 This list is alphabetically arranged

         10  and has been revised and corrected to January 14th,

         11  1927, and is to be used for future references, if

         12  necessary. It is to replace all former list issues.

         13                 Now, as we began to question the

         14  Navy, under pressure they gave me a list of 900 of

         15  those interred that they had removed during the

         16  second world war they say, and the reason they say,

         17  they wanted to put a field, a recreational field for

         18  the present servicemen then, during the second world

         19  war, right?

         20                 About the list of the 900, they gave

         21  me the list of the 900, and guess what? While

         22  looking through the list I discovered a name Carson,

         23  and upon doing some, a whole lot of investigation, I

         24  found that that was a relative. And because of that

         25  discovery, that relative now, after being authorized
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          2  by the United States government for its removal, is

          3  now lying at peace in Africa in Accra Ghana.

          4                 Now, we still have said to the United

          5  States Navy and to the government, that those 900

          6  were only part of what was buried there, and they

          7  were trying to tell us no, that was not so.

          8                 Well, because of our continued

          9  pressure, they one day said, okay, we will prove it

         10  to you. And they brought all of this modern

         11  technology, all of the modern equipment one day and

         12  with all of us present and they said we will show

         13  you that there is nobody else there.

         14                 The first five minutes they dug in

         15  the ground skeletons appeared, okay? So then they

         16  backed off. And we then --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr. Carson, let

         18  me just say this to you, I am very sympathetic and

         19  certainly, in fact, Council Member Freed and I were

         20  both very much involved with Senator Patterson and a

         21  number of people on the African Burial Grounds here,

         22  so we are extremely sensitive to that issue, and I

         23  am very sympathetic. Unfortunately, the jurisdiction

         24  of this Committee, and especially today's hearing,

         25  is involving the contamination of areas. That is
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          2  what the relevancy of Mr. Paterson's testimony was,

          3  that they found that the area was contaminated --

          4                 MR. CARSON: You don't think I am

          5  going there, huh? I am taking too long to go there,

          6  huh?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: No, I am saying

          8  --

          9                 MR. CARSON: You don't think what I am

         10  getting ready to tell you is relevant to why I am

         11  here?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Are you going to

         13  talk about spills and contamination.

         14                 MR. CARSON: Why don't you let me get

         15  there? I know I am taking as much time as maybe some

         16  of the other folks --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We have been

         18  here since about 10:30 --

         19                 MR. CARSON: Well, that wasn't my

         20  fault.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am not arguing

         22  with you, but there are people who have other places

         23  to go.

         24                 Continue, but bring it to the issue

         25  of the contamination.
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          2                 MR. CARSON: Oh, so I am to kind of

          3  quicken my --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes.

          5                 MR. CARSON: Boy oh boy.

          6                 I have asthma, too, so don't get me

          7  in trouble.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am very

          9  sympathetic.

         10                 MR. CARSON: In the yard, the Navy

         11  Yard, behind the interred, there is a hill where

         12  there is a little gas station. And that gas station

         13  was prominent in our photographing through the

         14  months or years that we were dealing with the navy,

         15  and then one day we hear that 1,500 tons of dirt had

         16  been taken from that area --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is the same

         18  gas station that Mr. Paterson is talking about?

         19                 MR. PATERSON: Yes.

         20                 MR. CARSON: I don't need you to do

         21  that. He asked me.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I asked the

         23  question whether it was the same gas station.

         24                 MR. CARSON: You are interrupting me

         25  and now I can't even finish.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You can finish,

          3  I just wanted to make sure we are talking about the

          4  same gas station.

          5                 MR. CARSON: You think I need him to

          6  corroborate, huh?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: No, I was asking

          8  you.

          9                 MR. CARSON: Well, why don't you wait,

         10  I will tell you. I think I am in the same place.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I just don't

         12  have to answer your questions.

         13                 MR. CARSON: Yes, sir. Ahead of time,

         14  I will get there.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, go on.

         16                 MR. CARSON: That 1,500 tons of dirt

         17  is what I am concerned about. They say the reason

         18  why they took it out was contamination.

         19                 Now, the place that we are talking

         20  about is not too far from the area that there is

         21  testimony that the woman and Bob had given today.

         22  You think I know what I am talking about?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes, I see the

         24  relevance.

         25                 MR. CARSON: Oh, I am so happy.
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          2                 Now, all I am asking, and I will ask

          3  in another way, because I have told Reverend

          4  Sharpton that I will let him know by cell phone when

          5  I was going to testify, what I would like to know is

          6  what happened to that dirt which contains -- that

          7  they say is contaminated? And you represent the City

          8  and somewhat, we want to know what happened to that

          9  dirt, 1,500 tons. Someone tell me where that is at?

         10                 Because if you can't tell me where

         11  that is at, then I am going to want to know what

         12  happened to all of the other dirt that has been dug

         13  up that was contaminated, or we feel has been

         14  contaminated, by all of those tanks that I have just

         15  discovered that have been lying uninspected here in

         16  and around our communities, and what I heard just a

         17  few minutes ago is testimony from the state person

         18  saying there is 5,900 tanks.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That's right.

         20                 MR. CARSON: Where are they? I wanted

         21  to ask that question but I was forbidden because

         22  they told me I can't interrupt like you did.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They are all

         24  over the City.

         25                 MR. CARSON: All over where? I would

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            143

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  like to know how many are in or near these following

          3  places?

          4                 There are some places where I would

          5  like to know if they are near.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr. Carson, let

          7  me ask you this: Give us a list --

          8                 MR. CARSON: Give you the list?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Give us a list,

         10  we will then pass it over to the State authorities

         11  and the federal authorities, and we will try to

         12  match them up with the locations that you want to

         13  know.

         14                 I think it is a legitimate question.

         15  I also would like to know what they did with that --

         16                 MR. CARSON: What you are saying then,

         17  that I --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We don't have

         19  the answers to this. This is the first time I heard

         20  this.

         21                 MR. CARSON: Well, it's the first time

         22  I heard it too. You don't think I should seize the

         23  opportunity --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: No, you were

         25  doing very well. You are doing very well, Mr. --
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          2                 MR. CARSON: No, I know that. You

          3  don't have to tell me, I always do well. I am only

          4  asking whether I -- I have taken my own time to come

          5  here before the City Council, and I have sat here --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I think it is

          7  time well spent. What we are saying to you is, allow

          8  us to help you.

          9                 MR. CARSON: I don't need you to help

         10  me that way. You continue to think that you can help

         11  me before I state on how you want me to help you --

         12  how I want you to help me.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: How do you want

         14  me to help you?

         15                 You said you wanted to locate where

         16  these tanks are and that is why I offered to help

         17  you.

         18                 MR. CARSON: I have another question,

         19  if you don't mind.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Now you have

         21  number two, okay.

         22                 MR. CARSON: You sure?

         23                 I have heard the projects or Housing

         24  Authority being brought up, other developments being

         25  brought up, and I would like to know how many of
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          2  those tanks in and around those developments in

          3  Harlem and Bed Stuy and Brownsville and East New

          4  York and so on? Because I am beginning to feel, and

          5  I don't know, and I hate to have to say this because

          6  I always have a little respect for you, I hate to

          7  feel that there is a kind of, another kind of game

          8  being played around us that we are unaware of that I

          9  became aware of today, and that I am not going to

         10  let remain still, and I don't understand why

         11  everybody should be so eager to not want to hear my

         12  questions about what is around my community, and I

         13  am a very able person who is certainly going to ask

         14  the questions in a minute, but I just don't

         15  understand, why is it that you are getting so

         16  panicky because I am asking those kinds of questions

         17  and you don't even realize ahead of time that those,

         18  that that dirt, who has it, Exxon? Mobil? Somebody

         19  needs to tell us something or we are going to have

         20  to come down and ask you. Do I have to bring the

         21  bugs (sic) and the crypts (sic) down there to get

         22  the answer? I came by myself. Hey, I don't care if

         23  you don't like it. I came by myself. I usually

         24  travel with others, I came by myself so I would not

         25  give anybody --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr. Carson,

          3  number one, it is the first time we have heard the

          4  issue.

          5                 MR. CARSON: Okay.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Number two, you

          7  are asking questions that we don't know the answer

          8  about. And number three, we would encourage you to

          9  seek the answer and we will help you in any way we

         10  possibly can.

         11                 MR. CARSON: I am going to tell you

         12  something too.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We will try to

         14  help.

         15                 MR. CARSON: Yeah. Don't help me. You

         16  hear me? No, no. I said don't help me. I am an

         17  individual. You need to help the people. The people

         18  that I am concerned about are the population that

         19  lives around those tanks that everybody seems to be

         20  so mysteriously unaware of all of a sudden.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We will help the

         22  people.

         23                 MR. CARSON: How do I guarantee that

         24  you are going to do that?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: How are you
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          2  going to guarantee? Well, I guess we will have to

          3  put it in writing, right?

          4                 MR. CARSON: I guess so.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 MR. CARSON: Would you do that?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I appreciate it.

          9  We appreciate it very much. Thank you for your

         10  testimony. Mr. Paterson, we appreciate it.

         11                 MR. PATERSON: Just one statement,

         12  though, about where we know these either removed or

         13  contaminated soil might be. The Navy did --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I think you are

         15  going to have to deal with the feds on that. We have

         16  no knowledge of this. This is on federal property.

         17                 MR. PATERSON: No, actually DEC was

         18  supposedly in control of that, and if DEC --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Why don't you

         20  speak to Mary Ellen Kris, she is sitting right

         21  there, and she will help you in any way possible,

         22  and so will we.

         23                 MR. PATERSON: Okay.

         24                 But you should know there was some

         25  state agency involvement but we just never knew
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          2  about it publicly.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Who is ever

          4  involved we would like to find out and we would like

          5  to find out what happened to it. I agree with you it

          6  is something worthwhile to find out. I think we have

          7  to be very conscious.

          8                 MR. PATERSON: Right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We are sensitive

         10  to those issues and the population involved.

         11                 MR. PATERSON: And one of the ways,

         12  though, to stop chasing this sort of moving target

         13  is to try to create the kind of local law

         14  restrictions or limitations that prevent things from

         15  happening that local people don't know.

         16                 Because I think in the City, the

         17  City's right-to-know law was not complied with. So,

         18  that aspect of it needs to be strengthened.

         19                 And there is public participation

         20  provisions in the federal law that I think is not

         21  yet adopted by the state that would trigger I think

         22  a better kind of response by the state so that there

         23  is lots more public involvement or a lot more public

         24  knowledge.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Paterson. We appreciate it. Thank you for bringing

          3  it to our attention.

          4                 Our next witness is Marvin Kirshner

          5  of the Port Authority of New York and New Jersey.

          6                 Mr. Kirshner. Thank you, Mr.

          7  Kirshner. Thank you for your patience and for

          8  coming.

          9                 Mr. Kirshner, state your name for the

         10  record and we will be very pleased to hear your

         11  testimony.

         12                 MR. KIRSHNER: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Chairman.

         14                 My name is Marvin Kirshner. I am

         15  hungry so I am only going to paraphrase what is on

         16  these two pages what I think is important to talk

         17  about, and then you may ask me whatever you want.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Pull the mic a

         19  little closer to you so we can hear you.

         20                 MR. KIRSHNER: Sure. I am the Chief

         21  Environmental Engineer of the Port Authority of New

         22  York and New Jersey, I have been in that job since

         23  June of 1986 at the time I joined the Port

         24  Authority.

         25                 Since 1986, in response to federal

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            150

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  and New York State regulations, the Port Authority

          3  developed and carried out a program to replace and

          4  eliminate our underground storage tanks.

          5                 At present, this program is

          6  essentially finished, we are following on right now

          7  with some tank clean-ups of areas that found tanks

          8  that were contaminated and either contaminated the

          9  soil or the groundwater or both.

         10                 I might add to this, though, and I

         11  will cover that later, any site like ours, any City

         12  is going to keep on finding tanks which were

         13  undiscovered before.

         14                 The tanks that we have are at John F.

         15  Kennedy International Airport, at LaGuardia Airport,

         16  Brooklyn Piers and the Goethals Bridge area.

         17  Petroleum products contained in the tanks in 1986

         18  included diesel and gasoline fuel, heating oil,

         19  solvents, Jet A fuel, aviation gas, hydraulic fluid

         20  and waste oil, in a total of about 800 underground

         21  storage tanks in New York.

         22                 The tanks were owned or operated

         23  under several circumstances. The reason I include

         24  this is because it is important to understand this,

         25  to understand the difficulty in getting to all of
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          2  the tanks, and understanding where they are and

          3  whether they are there or not.

          4                 The Port Authority installed and

          5  operated some of these tanks. The Port Authority

          6  installed and tenants operated some of these tanks.

          7  Tenants installed and operated tanks. Previous

          8  tenants installed and current tenants operate tanks.

          9  Some were unknown installations operated by the

         10  current tenants where we couldn't find out who

         11  installed the tank, and we find, we are still

         12  finding some tanks which are just there. We find

         13  them during a site investigation on a new site or

         14  when there is a real estate transaction, and we

         15  can't tell who the ownership is and the tanks are

         16  usually not being used.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: On your

         18  property?

         19                 MR. KIRSHNER: On the Port Authority

         20  site. On the airport sites.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well, if you

         22  found out who they are and they are out of business,

         23  what good does it do you, you still have to take

         24  care of them.

         25                 MR. KIRSHNER: Right. But often we can
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          2  still go after them.

          3                 In addition to complying with State

          4  and federal regulations, some policies were

          5  developed. Starting in 1986, even though the federal

          6  law stated that the cut-off date was December 1988,

          7  starting in 1986, the time I joined the Port

          8  Authority, they were already designing all new tanks

          9  in accordance with the federal regulations, which

         10  are essentially the API standards, the American

         11  Petroleum Institute standards.

         12                 Instead of upgrading tanks into

         13  compliance since our tanks were of all ages up to 40

         14  years old, it was decided to close all of the tanks,

         15  where possible, and only upgrade those tanks that

         16  were either very large or were in very busy areas

         17  where it paid to upgrade those tanks. So, in

         18  essence, almost all of the tanks were replaced.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Were replaced,

         20  removed or what?

         21                 MR. KIRSHNER: Replaced or removed.

         22                 They were mostly removed wherever

         23  possible.

         24                 The only time they are not removed is

         25  when they are near a structure that would be damaged
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          2  in the removal of the tanks.

          3                 Now, not all of the removed tanks

          4  were replaced because we have other means in some

          5  cases of supplying heat to buildings and in some

          6  cases we substituted off-site fueling for on-site

          7  fueling.

          8                 Two other policies I think were

          9  extremely important. The first one is environmental

         10  baselines. At the time I joined the Port Authority

         11  we started to do environmental baselines. Now, this

         12  is a detailed comprehensive environmental survey of

         13  the site, and we did that with every real estate

         14  transaction. Therefore, if a new tenant was coming

         15  on site, we would perform an environmental baseline

         16  which would include underground storage tanks and go

         17  through all of the records on that site.

         18                 By doing that we found a lot of old,

         19  unlisted underground storage tanks.

         20                 Second, and I think perhaps more

         21  important, the Port Authority perhaps started to

         22  perform audits of its sites. You heard about the JFK

         23  audit from DEC.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes.

         25                 MR. KIRSHNER: And we have also
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          2  completed the audit at the Brooklyn Piers. The

          3  LaGuardia audit is about to start, it is contracted

          4  and about to start.

          5                 In that audit, an outside engineering

          6  firm is coming in and doing the detailed

          7  environmental audit of the site on every aspect of

          8  the site, including underground storage tanks and

          9  the compliance of those tanks with the regulations.

         10                 The Port Authority early in this

         11  program, some time in 1986 and '87, started a series

         12  of organizational and program moves to accomplish

         13  this program.

         14                 First of all, our staff had to be

         15  trained. We were separated into a central staff and

         16  an operating staff. The facilities belong to the

         17  operating staff. So, the operating staff and the

         18  facilities staff had to be trained to understand

         19  what the regulations included, and what this program

         20  required and the timing of the program.

         21                 The operating departments each

         22  assigned a person at each of these facilities, in

         23  some cases it was a central person.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do you have to

         25  go through all of those details with us?
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          2                 MR. KIRSHNER: No.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I thought you

          4  were hungry. How about how you go about doing your

          5  job is fine. The issue is are you doing it, and are

          6  you doing it successfully?

          7                 MR. KIRSHNER: We struggled, yes. But

          8  the point I would like to make is that on the older

          9  sites, and many people have older sites, it is very

         10  difficult just to do it from the records, from the

         11  registration records and from the on-site records.

         12  It is the environmental audits, the site audits, and

         13  site baselines that gave us most of the information

         14  that is missing, and without those we wouldn't have

         15  found --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That's a

         17  terrible shame that that had to happen, because of

         18  the fact they can be dangerous instrumentalities,

         19  and here we have put it in our ground next to areas

         20  which could cause some problems, things that we

         21  can't locate. And we don't know and we have to hit

         22  and miss and there was an anecdotal problem.

         23                 MR. KIRSHNER: Correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So you are doing

         25  the best you can under the circumstances. Are there
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          2  means -- and you are an engineer you said, sir?

          3                 MR. KIRSHNER: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Aren't there

          5  means, metal detecting devices that can be used to

          6  go -- I don't know how deep these things are, that

          7  can be used to determine whether or not there are

          8  tanks underneath? Isn't there a better way of

          9  detecting them?

         10                 MR. KIRSHNER: Yes. On some sites, let

         11  me give you an example of that.

         12                 In Port Newark, Elizabeth, which is

         13  not in this area, of course, but we knew about some

         14  60 odd underground storage tanks in our program and

         15  we removed those. And then we went ahead and used

         16  ground-seeking radar and we found about 70 more,

         17  which we couldn't find in any of the records.

         18                 But at a location like JFK, which is

         19  paved and has reinforcing through the ground and

         20  pipelines, it just doesn't work. You can't use that

         21  with the tanks.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But in JFK, your

         23  records should be better than some of these off-site

         24  areas, so you should really know where they are.

         25                 MR. KIRSHNER: I would say that the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            157

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  records are good at JFK about the Port Authority

          3  tanks. But when you get to the tenant tanks, tanks

          4  which may have been installed by the tenants, they

          5  aren't good.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They didn't get

          7  permission to install them?

          8                 MR. KIRSHNER: Back in those days I

          9  guess not.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: How many years

         11  are we talking about?

         12                 MR. KIRSHNER: Well, remember, a lot

         13  of tanks were closed out before 1986. I think the

         14  State started to enforce --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So it doesn't

         16  say JFK, it says Idlewild.

         17                 MR. KIRSHNER: It says Idelwild or

         18  something else.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: There are some

         20  of us who are old enough to remember when it was

         21  called Idlewild.

         22                 MR. KIRSHNER: Right, and those tanks

         23  may have been 1940s or '30s, '50s.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It was 1946 I

         25  took my first airplane ride from JFK.
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          2                 MR. KIRSHNER: And people were not

          3  concerned about underground storage tanks then. And

          4  people were not concerned about leaks back then.

          5  They just covered it over, paved it over, put a

          6  runway on top of it, et cetera.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But you do know

          8  plumes are under JFK, which you just testified to.

          9                 MR. KIRSHNER: Yes, we know of plumes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You have entered

         11  into a consent order with respect to many of your

         12  facilities.

         13                 MR. KIRSHNER: At JFK we have.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: JFK consent

         15  order, and this was signed on February 22nd, 1994.

         16                 MR. KIRSHNER: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And are we in

         18  compliance with that consent order?

         19                 MR. KIRSHNER: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And do you have

         21  any other consent orders? Or is that the only one?

         22                 MR. KIRSHNER: Not in New York.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The largest

         24  remediation are two jet fuel plumes underlying the

         25  airport's petroleum bulk storage farms and the
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          2  reconstruction of the airport's central terminal.

          3  There is a lot of construction going on.

          4                 MR. KIRSHNER: A lot of construction

          5  is going on.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And as far as

          7  you are concerned you have a handle on it?

          8                 MR. KIRSHNER: We have a handle on it.

          9  The two plumes that you are talking about, one is

         10  under contract right now to clean up, and the other

         11  one is about to go out for bids on a contract.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: How long does it

         13  take to clean it up, and what are the consequences

         14  of these plumes?

         15                 MR. KIRSHNER: We have been cleaning

         16  it up for awhile.

         17                 What we have done, we have been using

         18  wells and mobile rigs to clean up the leading edge

         19  of these plumes so they do not advance.

         20                 Now we are at the point where we are

         21  going to bring a contractor on-site to contain the

         22  plumes and clean them up inside the contained area.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They are jet

         24  fueled?

         25                 MR. KIRSHNER: They are jet fuel which
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          2  moves very slowly through the soil.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: It is highly

          4  flammable.

          5                 MR. KIRSHNER: No.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Not as flammable

          7  as gasoline of course.

          8                 MR. KIRSHNER: No, not nearly as

          9  flammable as gasoline.

         10                 And it doesn't move the way the

         11  benzine and gasoline does. The benzine will move

         12  very fast, jet fuel moves relatively slow.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And I assume you

         14  are in full cooperation with the City of New York

         15  and the State Department?

         16                 MR. KIRSHNER: With the State, not the

         17  City.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Not with the

         19  Fire Department?

         20                 MR. KIRSHNER: No. But with the State,

         21  the State has a DEC person on-site who is very smart

         22  and very anxious to clean up all of the underground

         23  storage tanks.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: This has not

         25  been designated a brown fuel or anything like that?
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          2                 MR. KIRSHNER: No.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Who is paying

          4  for the removal?

          5                 MR. KIRSHNER: Wherever we can we are

          6  trying to find the responsible parties and go after

          7  them.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Otherwise you

          9  have to, the Port Authority has to cover it.

         10                 MR. KIRSHNER: Or the Port Authority

         11  will have to cover it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I see.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 Is there any other questions?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr. Sabini would

         17  like to inquire.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chairman.

         20                 Mr. Kirshner, you heard my earlier

         21  questions about LaGuardia. I represent the area of

         22  homeowners immediately adjacent to LaGuardia, from

         23  100th Street to 82nd Street.

         24                 You talked about the plumes at JFK

         25  and we have reviewed the consent order. Are there
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          2  any tanks that have problems at LaGuardia now. I am

          3  assuming there are based on the large number of

          4  them?

          5                 MR. KIRSHNER: The underground storage

          6  tanks at LaGuardia are almost all under the control

          7  of the airlines and Ogden Aviation, which is the

          8  maintenance party on the site.

          9                 The airlines, American Airlines did

         10  an extensive clean-up of your tanks and are still in

         11  negotiation with DEC on the final stages on that.

         12  Ogden Aviation is cleaning up their system and is

         13  also at the central fueling area, there are some

         14  above-ground tanks which had leaked and had a small

         15  plume, that is being cleaned up at this time, again,

         16  under a state plan that is approved and is being

         17  monitored by the State DEC.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: When will all the

         19  ongoing remediation that you talked about be

         20  completed?

         21                 MR. KIRSHNER: I don't know.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Do you have a

         23  guesstimate?

         24                 MR. KIRSHNER: I would say that the

         25  fuel farm is going to be finished by some time this
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          2  year. The balance I really don't know.

          3                 The reason I say that is that we have

          4  some plans to modify parts of the airport and I am

          5  not certain of what we will encounter there.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I also raised

          7  the question earlier of a storage of deicing fluid.

          8                 MR. KIRSHNER: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Are there

         10  tanks with deicing fluid at LaGuardia?

         11                 MR. KIRSHNER: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Are those

         13  tanks inspected on a regular basis by some entity?

         14                 MR. KIRSHNER: I don't know. Those

         15  tanks are under the ownership and control of the

         16  airlines.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Each airline

         18  de-ices its own planes?

         19                 MR. KIRSHNER: Yes.

         20                 Now, the Port Authority does deice

         21  taxiways and the runways.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right.

         23                 MR. KIRSHNER: And we change the

         24  deicing fluid from what we have used. We used to use

         25  urea and we have stopped using that and we use
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          2  something which is less contaminating at this point.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Having the

          4  good fortune of having a father who worked on the

          5  runways at LaGuardia using the urea, I am familiar

          6  with what you used.

          7                 The tank containment, though, who

          8  inspects the airline tanks right now? Since they are

          9  going on to your property, you probably know who

         10  inspects them.

         11                 MR. KIRSHNER: No, I don't know, sir.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: You don't

         13  know?

         14                 MR. KIRSHNER: No.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: The storage of

         16  the materials you used to deice the taxiways and

         17  runways, who inspects those tanks?

         18                 MR. KIRSHNER: We inspect it

         19  ourselves.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Right. No

         21  other government entity comes in and checks?

         22                 MR. KIRSHNER: Not that I know of.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. I know

         24  DEC testified earlier that they had jurisdiction on

         25  your property, so I guess that would be one of those
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          2  tanks, that when I asked the region administrator of

          3  DEC if every tank gets inspected she said she wasn't

          4  sure. I guess that would mean this would fall into

          5  the category of wasn't sure.

          6                 MR. KIRSHNER: Well, there is one

          7  other point. There is a change-over that is

          8  occurring and we are pushing the airlines to make

          9  the same change. We are changing from ethylene

         10  glycol, which is a hazardous substance, to propylene

         11  glycol, which at this time is not.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

         13                 Are there any, since you inspect the

         14  tanks with the deicing material, are there any tanks

         15  that have leakage problems of deicing material that

         16  you own?

         17                 MR. KIRSHNER: We don't know.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: You said you

         19  are inspecting them, so?

         20                 MR. KIRSHNER: Yes, we are inspecting

         21  the tanks, but we are not testing them.

         22                 I think the deicing issue is somewhat

         23  different than that. It is that you deice a plane,

         24  or you deice a runway or taxiway, then the deicing

         25  fluid just rolls off into the grass and into the
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          2  ground.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: And into the

          4  bay.

          5                 MR. KIRSHNER: And eventually into the

          6  bay.

          7                 Now, we did a study of the bay to

          8  look at the dissolved oxygen content of the water

          9  during all seasons and we found that the depression

         10  was not very great, and it usually occurs only in

         11  the winter.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: It would be

         13  helpful to me to know, and you said you don't know

         14  if any of them are leaking, it would seem to me, and

         15  I see the Regional Administrator for DEC has come

         16  back, that we have some inspection of those tanks

         17  because it has been testified, so she now knows,

         18  that no one inspects the Port Authority tanks,

         19  except the Port Authority, and if DEC had

         20  jurisdiction in there, I would have hoped that

         21  someone would come in of a regulatory agency to

         22  inspect the tanks.

         23                 MR. KIRSHNER: You are referring to

         24  the deicing tanks?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Any of them?
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          2                 MR. KIRSHNER: All of the other tanks

          3  are inspected under the control of DEC.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

          5                 MR. KIRSHNER:  All of the clean-ups

          6  are under their control.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay. All

          8  right, I was confused by your answer.

          9                 Certainly in the deicing material,

         10  that material is a hazardous substance. As you

         11  testified the material has been used up until now.

         12                 MR. KIRSHNER: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: And the tanks

         14  that are used for storage of that material should be

         15  no less subject to inspection. Needless to say, the

         16  folks in East Elmhurst who live adjacent to

         17  LaGuardia would be most concerned about any leaching

         18  that occurs at LaGuardia, LaGuardia being one of --

         19  an airport that is so close to a residential area

         20  that when you travel around this country you don't

         21  see quite a zoning set-up like it, but as a result

         22  of the rush to aviation, modern aviation in the

         23  forties and fifties, and no one's entire fault of

         24  their own, but we have to live with it today, so.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for the
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          2  opportunity to ask questions.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 Thank you, sir.

          6                 MR. KIRSHNER: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: There being no

          8  more further witnesses, I just do want to announce

          9  that invited to this hearing but did not

         10  participate, even though we did receive a statement

         11  from them, is the MTA. They submitted us a

         12  statement. But we received no statements, nor the

         13  presence, of the Brooklyn Union Gas Company, I think

         14  it is called KESO (phonetic), the Board of

         15  Education, New York City Housing Authority, and Con

         16  Ed.

         17                 Thank you all for attending, this

         18  meeting is hereby adjourned.

         19                 (Hearing concluded at 1:40 p.m.)
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